Nia Impact Solutions Fund Ticker Symbol: NIAGX

A Series of Ultimus Managers Trust

Supplement to the Prospectus and Statement of Additional Information dated June 28, 2023

This supplement updates certain information in the Prospectus and Statement of Additional Information ("SAI") for the Nia Impact Solutions Fund (the "Fund"), a series of Ultimus Managers Trust, as set forth below. For more information on the Fund or to obtain a copy of the Fund's Prospectus or SAI, free of charge, please visit the Fund's website at www.niaimpactfunds.com or call the Fund toll free at 1-833-571-2833.

Andrea Dalton, CFA, has ceased serving as a Portfolio Manager of the Fund. Effective immediately all references to Ms. Dalton with respect to the Fund are hereby removed from the Fund's Prospectus and SAI.

Investors Should Retain this Supplement for Future Reference.

STATEMENT OF ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

June 28, 2023

NIA IMPACT SOLUTIONS FUND Ticker Symbol: (NIAGX)

Series of
ULTIMUS MANAGERS TRUST
225 Pictoria Drive, Suite 450
Cincinnati, Ohio 45246

This Statement of Additional Information ("SAI") should be read in conjunction with the Prospectus for the Nia Impact Solutions Fund (the "Fund") dated June 28, 2023, which may be supplemented from time to time (the "Prospectus"). This SAI is incorporated by reference in its entirety into the Prospectus. Because this SAI is not itself a prospectus, no investment in shares of the Fund should be made solely upon the information contained herein. Copies of the Prospectus may be obtained without charge, upon request, by writing the Fund at P.O. Box 46707, Cincinnati, Ohio 45246-0707 or by calling toll-free 833-571-2833 or by visiting the Fund's website at NIAIMPACTFUNDS.COM.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON INVESTMENTS, STRATEGIES AND RISKS	1
INVESTMENT RESTRICTIONS	12
CALCULATION OF SHARE PRICE	14
ADDITIONAL PURCHASE AND REDEMPTION INFORMATION	14
SPECIAL SHAREHOLDER SERVICES	15
MANAGEMENT OF THE TRUST	16
INVESTMENT ADVISER	21
PORTFOLIO TRANSACTIONS	24
THE DISTRIBUTOR	25
OTHER SERVICE PROVIDERS	25
GENERAL INFORMATION	27
ADDITIONAL TAX INFORMATION	32
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS	38
APPENDIX A – TRUSTEES AND OFFICERS	39
APPENDIX B – TRUST PROXY VOTING POLICIES AND PROCEDURES	41
ADDENDIY C ADVISED DROYV VOTING DOLICIES AND DROCEDURES	44

STATEMENT OF ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

The Nia Impact Solutions Fund (the "Fund") is a diversified series of Ultimus Managers Trust (the "Trust"), an open-end management investment company. The Trust is an unincorporated business trust that was organized under Ohio law on February 28, 2012. The Fund's investments are managed by Nia Impact Capital (the "Adviser"). For further information on the Fund, please call 833-571-2833 or by visiting the Fund's website at NIAIMPACTFUNDS.COM.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON INVESTMENTS, STRATEGIES AND RISKS

Information contained in this SAI expands upon information contained in the Prospectus. All investments in securities and other financial instruments involve a risk of financial loss. No assurance can be given that the Fund's investment programs will be successful. Investors should carefully review the descriptions of the Fund's investments and associated risks described in the Prospectus and this SAI. No investment in shares of the Fund should be made without first reading the Prospectus. Unless otherwise indicated, percentage limitations apply at the time of purchase of the applicable securities.

General Investment Risks. Prices of securities in which the Fund invests may fluctuate in response to many factors, including, but not limited to, the activities of the individual companies whose securities the Fund owns, general market and economic conditions, interest rates, and specific industry changes. Such price fluctuations subject the Fund to potential losses. In addition, regardless of any one company's particular prospects, a declining stock market may produce a decline in prices for all securities, which could also result in losses for the Fund. Market declines may continue for an indefinite period of time, and investors should understand that during temporary or extended bear markets, the value of all types of securities, including securities held by the Fund, can decline.

Market Risk. Market risk is the risk that the value of the securities in the Fund's portfolio may decline due to daily fluctuations in the securities markets that are generally beyond the Adviser's control, including fluctuation in interest rates, the quality of the Fund's investments, economic conditions and general market conditions. Certain market events could increase volatility and exacerbate market risk, and could result in trading halts, such as changes in governments' economic policies, political turmoil, environmental events, trade disputes, terrorism, military action and epidemics, pandemics or other public health issues. Any of the foregoing market events can adversely affect the economies of one or more countries or the entire global economy, certain industries or individual issuers, and capital and security markets in ways that cannot necessarily be foreseen or quickly addressed.

Market events such as these and other types of market events may cause significant declines in the values and liquidity of many securities and other instruments, and significant disruptions to global business activity and financial markets. Turbulence in financial markets, and reduced liquidity in equity, credit and fixed income markets may negatively affect many issuers both domestically and around the world, and can result in trading halts, any of which could have an adverse impact on the Fund. During periods of market volatility, security prices (including securities held by the Fund) could change drastically and rapidly and therefore adversely affect the Fund.

Equity Securities. The equity portion of the Fund's portfolio will generally be comprised of domestic and foreign issuers, including common stocks, depositary receipts evidencing ownership in foreign common stocks, preferred stocks, securities convertible into common stocks and securities that carry the right to buy common stocks, traded on domestic or foreign securities exchanges or over-the counter ("OTC") markets. The prices of equity securities in which the Fund invests may fluctuate in response to many factors, including, but not limited to, the activities of the individual companies whose securities the Fund owns, general market and economic conditions, interest rates, and specific industry

changes. Such price fluctuations subject the Fund to potential losses. In addition, regardless of any one company's particular prospects, a declining stock market may produce a decline in prices for all equity securities, which could also result in losses for the Fund.

Common Stock. The Fund may purchase common stock. Prices of common stock may fluctuate in response to many factors, including, but not limited to, the activities of the individual companies whose stock the Fund owns, general market and economic conditions, interest rates, and specific industry changes. Such price fluctuations subject the Fund to potential losses. In addition, regardless of any one company's particular prospects, a declining stock market may produce a decline in prices for all stocks, which may also result in losses for the Fund. Market declines may continue for any indefinite period of time, and investors should understand that during temporary or extended bear markets, the value of common stocks, including common stocks held by the Fund, will likely decline.

Preferred Stock. The Fund may invest in preferred stock. Preferred stocks are securities that represent an ownership interest providing the holder with claims on the issuer's earnings and assets before common stock owners but after bond owners. Unlike debt securities, the obligations of an issuer of preferred stock, including dividend and other payment obligations, may not typically be accelerated by the holders of such preferred stock on the occurrence of an event of default or other non-compliance by the issuer of the preferred stock. Preferred stocks may include the obligation to pay a stated dividend. The price of preferred stocks could depend more on the size of the dividend than on the company's performance. If a company fails to pay the dividend, its preferred stock is likely to drop in price. Changes in interest rates can also affect the price of preferred stock. Like common stocks, the value of preferred stock may fluctuate in response to many factors, including the activities of the issuer, general market and economic conditions, interest rates, and industry-specific changes.

Convertible Securities. In addition to common and preferred stocks, the Fund may invest in securities convertible into common stock such as convertible bonds, convertible preferred stocks, and warrants. Convertible bonds are fixed-income securities that may be converted at a stated price within a specified period into a certain quantity of the common stock of the same or a different issuer. Convertible bonds are senior to common stocks in an issuer's capital structure, but are usually subordinated to similar non-convertible securities. While providing a fixed income stream (generally higher in yield than the income derivable from common stock but lower than that afforded by a similar nonconvertible security), a convertible security also provides the investor the opportunity, through its conversion feature, to participate in the capital appreciation of the underlying common stock. Like other debt securities, the value of a convertible bond tends to vary inversely with the level of interest rates. However, to the extent that the market price of the underlying common stock approaches or exceeds the conversion price, the price of the convertible bond will be increasingly influenced by its conversion value (the security's worth, at market value, if converted into the underlying common stock). Although to a lesser extent than with fixed-income securities, the market value of convertible bonds tends to decline as interest rates increase and, conversely, tends to increase as interest rates decline. In addition, because of the conversion feature, the market value of convertible bonds tends to vary with fluctuations in the market value of the underlying common stock. A unique feature of convertible securities is that as the market price of the underlying common stock declines, convertible securities tend to trade increasingly on a yield basis and so may not experience market value declines to the same extent as the underlying common stock. When the market price of the underlying common stock increases, the prices of the convertible securities tend to rise as a reflection of the value of the underlying common stock. While no securities investments are without risk, investments in convertible securities generally entail less risk than investments in common stock of the same issuer.

Warrants and Rights. The Fund may purchase warrants and rights, or it may acquire ownership of such investments by virtue of its ownership of common stocks. Warrants are essentially options to purchase equity securities at specific prices and are valid for a specific period of time. Rights are similar to

warrants but generally have a short duration and are distributed directly by the issuer to its shareholders. The holders of warrants and rights have no voting rights, and receive no dividends, with respect to the equity interests underlying warrants or rights, and will have no rights with respect to the assets of the issuer, until the warrant or right is exercised. Investments in warrants and rights involve certain risks, including the possible lack of a liquid market for resale, potential price fluctuations as a result of speculation or other factors, and failure of the price of the underlying security to reach or have reasonable prospects of reaching a level at which the warrant or right can be prudently exercised (in which event the warrant or right may expire without being exercised, resulting in a loss of the Fund's entire investment therein).

Foreign Securities. The Fund may invest in securities issued by foreign governments or foreign corporations, directly or indirectly through exchange traded funds ("ETFs") or derivative transactions (e.g., foreign currency futures). The Fund may also invest in securities of foreign issuers that trade directly on U.S. stock exchanges or in the form of American Depositary Receipts ("ADRs"). The Fund defines foreign securities as any security issued by a company that meets at least one of the following criteria at the time of purchase:

- The company is organized under the laws of a foreign country.
- The company maintains its principal place of business in a foreign country.
- The principal trading market for the company's securities is located in a foreign country.
- During its most recent fiscal year, at least 50% of the company's revenues or profits were derived from operations in foreign countries.
- During its most recent fiscal year, at least 50% of the company's assets were located in foreign countries.

ADRs are receipts that evidence ownership of underlying securities issued by a foreign issuer. ADRs are generally issued by a U.S. bank or trust company to U.S. buyers as a substitute for direct ownership of a foreign security and are traded on U.S. exchanges. ADRs, in registered form, are designed for use in the U.S. securities markets. ADRs may be purchased through "sponsored" or "unsponsored" facilities. A sponsored facility is established jointly by the issuer of the underlying security and a depositary. A depositary may establish an unsponsored facility without participation by the issuer of the deposited security. The depositary of an unsponsored ADR is under no obligation to distribute shareholder communications received from the issuer of the deposited security or to pass through voting rights with respect to the deposited security. Investments in ADRs are subject to risks similar to those associated with direct investments in foreign securities. The Fund intends to invest primarily in foreign securities that are listed on U.S. stock exchanges.

Investing in the securities of foreign issuers involves special risks and considerations not typically associated with investing in U.S. companies. The performance of foreign markets does not necessarily track U.S. markets. Foreign investments may be affected favorably or unfavorably by changes in currency rates, exchange control regulations, and capital controls. There may be less publicly available information about a foreign company than about a U.S. company, and foreign companies may not be subject to accounting, auditing and financial reporting standards, and requirements comparable to those applicable to U.S. companies. Foreign securities may trade with less frequency and volume than domestic securities and, therefore, may exhibit less liquidity and greater price volatility than securities of U.S. companies. There may be less governmental supervision of securities markets, brokers and issuers of securities than in the U.S. Changes in foreign exchange rates will affect the value of those securities, which are denominated or quoted in currencies other than the U.S. dollar. Therefore, to the extent the Fund invests in a foreign security, which is denominated or quoted in a currency other than the U.S. dollar, there is the risk that the value of such security will decrease due to changes in the relative value of the U.S. dollar and the security's underlying foreign currency. Additional costs associated with an investment in foreign securities may

include higher custodial fees than those applicable to domestic custodial arrangements, generally higher commission rates on foreign portfolio transactions, and transaction costs of foreign currency conversions. Investments in foreign securities may also be subject to other risks different from those affecting U.S. investments, including local political or economic developments, expropriation or nationalization of assets, restrictions on foreign investment and repatriation of capital, imposition of withholding taxes on dividend or interest payments, currency blockage (which would prevent cash from being brought back to the U.S.), limits on proxy voting and difficulty in enforcing legal rights outside the U.S. currency exchange rates and regulations may cause fluctuation in the value of foreign securities. In addition, foreign securities and dividends and interest payable on those securities, may be subject to foreign taxes, including taxes withheld from payments on those securities.

Currency Risk. The value of the Fund's assets, as measured in U.S. dollars, may be affected favorably or unfavorably by changes in currency exchange rates and exchange control regulations. As a result, the Fund's exposure to foreign currencies may reduce the returns of the Fund. Trading of foreign currencies also includes the risk of clearing and settling trades, which, if prices are volatile, may be difficult.

Emerging Markets Risk. The Fund may invest directly and indirectly in emerging market equity and fixed-income securities. Emerging market countries may include, among others, countries in Asia, Latin, Central and South America, Eastern Europe, the Middle East and Africa. In addition to the general risk of investing in foreign securities and foreign fixed-income securities described above and below, investing in emerging markets can involve greater and more unique risks than those associated with investing in more developed markets. The securities markets of emerging countries are generally small, less developed, less liquid, and more volatile than securities markets of the U.S. and other developed markets. The risks of investing in emerging markets include greater social, political and economic uncertainties. Emerging market economies are often dependent upon a few commodities or natural resources that may be significantly adversely affected by volatile price movements against those commodities or natural resources. Emerging market countries may experience high levels of inflation and currency devaluation and have fewer potential buyers for investments. The securities markets and legal systems in emerging market countries may only be in a developmental stage and may provide few, or none, of the advantages and protections of markets or legal systems in more developed countries. Some of these countries may have in the past failed to recognize private property rights and have at times nationalized or expropriated the assets of private companies. Additionally, if settlements do not keep pace with the volume of securities transactions, they may be delayed, potentially causing the Fund's assets to be uninvested, the Fund to miss investment opportunities and potential returns, and the Fund to be unable to sell an investment. As a result of these various risks, investments in emerging markets are considered to be speculative and may be highly volatile.

Options. The Fund may purchase and write, or sell, put and call options on securities. The Fund may buy and sell options for a number of purposes, including hedging, investment or speculative purposes. For example, it may do so to try to manage its exposure to the possibility that the prices of its portfolio securities may decline, or to establish a position in the securities market as a substitute for purchasing individual securities. Buying puts and writing covered calls may be used to hedge the Fund's portfolio against price fluctuations. Buying call options tends to increase the Fund's exposure to the securities market. The Fund may write a call or put option only if the option is "covered" by the Fund's holding a position in the underlying securities or by other means which would permit immediate satisfaction of the Fund's obligation as writer of the option. The purchase and writing of options involves certain risks. During the option period, the covered call writer has, in return for the premium on the option, given up the opportunity to profit from a price increase in the underlying securities above the exercise price, but, as long as its obligation as a writer continues, has retained the risk of loss should the price of the underlying security decline. The writer of an option has no control over the time when it may be required to fulfill its obligation as a writer of the option. Once an option writer has received an exercise notice, it cannot effect a closing purchase transaction in order to terminate its obligation under the option and must deliver the underlying

securities at the exercise price. If a put or call option purchased by the Fund is not sold when it has remaining value, and if the market price of the underlying security, in the case of a put, remains equal to or greater than the exercise price or, in the case of a call, remains less than or equal to the exercise price, the Fund will lose its entire investment in the option. Also, where a put or call option on a particular security is purchased to hedge against price movements in a related security, the price of the put or call option may move more or less than the price of the related security. There can be no assurance that a liquid market will exist when the Fund seeks to close out an option position. Furthermore, if trading restrictions or suspensions are imposed on the options market, the Fund may be unable to close out a position.

Investment Companies. The Fund may, from time to time, invest in securities of other investment companies, both open-end and closed-end funds, including, without limitation, money market funds and ETFs. Generally, under Section 12(d)(1) of the Investment Company Act of 1940 (the "1940 Act"), a fund may not acquire shares of another investment company if, immediately after such acquisition, (i) a fund would hold more than 3% of the other investment company's total outstanding shares, (ii) a fund's investment in securities of the other investment company would be more than 5% of the value of the total assets of the fund, or (iii) more than 10% of a fund's total assets would be invested in investment companies. Under certain conditions, a fund may invest in registered and unregistered money market funds in excess of these limitations. The Fund generally expects to rely on Rule 12d1-1 under the 1940 Act when purchasing shares of a money market fund. Under Rule 12d1-1, the Fund may generally invest without limitation in money market funds as long as the Fund pays no sales charge ("sales charge"), as defined in rule 2830(b)(8) of the Conduct Rules of the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority ("FINRA"), or service fee, as defined in rule 2830(b)(9) of the Conduct Rules of FINRA, charged in connection with the purchase, sale, or redemption of securities issued by the money market fund ("service fee"); or the Adviser waives its management fee in an amount necessary to offset any sales charge or service fee. The Fund generally expects to rely on Section 12(d)(1)(F) of the 1940 Act when purchasing shares of other investment companies that are not money market funds. Under Section 12(d)(1)(F), the Fund may generally acquire shares of another investment company unless, immediately after such acquisition, the Fund and its affiliated persons would hold more than 3% of the investment company's total outstanding stock (the "3% Limitation"). To the extent the 3% Limitation applies to an investment the Fund wishes to make, the Fund may be prevented from allocating its investments in the manner that the Adviser considers optimal. Also, under the 1940 Act, to the extent that the Fund relies upon Section 12(d)(1)(F) in purchasing securities issued by another investment company, the Fund must either seek instructions from its shareholders with regard to the voting of all proxies with respect to its investment in such securities and vote such proxies only in accordance with the instructions, or vote the shares held by it in the same proportion as the vote of all other holders of the securities. In the event that there is a vote of investment company shares held by the Fund in reliance on Section 12(d)(1)(F), the Fund intends to vote such shares in the same proportion as the vote of all other holders of such securities. Investments in other investment companies subjects the Fund to additional operating and management fees and expenses. For example, the Fund's investors will indirectly bear fees and expenses charged by underlying investment companies in which the Fund invests, in addition to the Fund's direct fees and expenses.

In addition, Rule 12d1-4 under the 1940 Act allows funds to invest in other investment companies in excess of some of the limitations discussed above, subject to certain limitations and conditions. An acquiring fund relying on Rule 12d-4 generally must enter into a fund of funds investment agreement with the acquired fund. Rule 12d1-4 outlines the requirements for fund of funds agreements and specifies certain reporting responsibilities of the acquiring fund's adviser. The Fund expects to rely on Rule 12d1-4 to the extent the Adviser deems such reliance necessary or appropriate.

Exchange Traded Funds ("ETFs"). The Fund may invest in shares of ETFs. An ETF is typically an investment company registered under the 1940 Act that holds a portfolio of common stocks designed to track the performance of a particular index or market sector. Alternatively, ETFs may be actively managed

pursuant to a particular investment strategy, similar to other non-index based investment companies. ETFs are traded on a securities exchange based on their market value. In addition, ETFs sell and redeem their shares at net asset value ("NAV") in large blocks (typically 50,000 of its shares) called "creation units." Shares representing fractional interests in these creation units are listed for trading on national securities exchanges and can be purchased and sold in the secondary market like ordinary stocks in lots of any size at any time during the trading day.

An investment in an ETF generally presents the same primary risks as an investment in a conventional registered investment company (i.e., one that is not exchange traded), including the risk that the general level of securities prices, or that the prices of securities within a particular sector, may increase or decrease, thereby affecting the value of the shares of an ETF. In addition, ETFs are subject to the following risks that do not apply to conventional registered investment companies: (1) the market price of the ETF's shares may trade at a discount to the ETF's NAV; (2) an active trading market for an ETF's shares may not develop or be maintained; (3) trading of an ETF's shares may be halted if the listing exchange deems such action appropriate; (4) ETF shares may be delisted from the exchange on which they trade; and (5) activation of "circuit breakers" by the exchange (which are tied to large decreases in stock prices) may halt trading of the ETF's shares temporarily. ETFs are also subject to the risks of the underlying securities or sectors that the ETF is designed to track.

Because ETFs and pools that issue similar instruments bear various fees and expenses, the Fund will pay a proportionate share of these expenses, as well as transaction costs, such as brokerage commissions. As with traditional investment companies, ETFs charge asset-based fees, although these fees tend to be relatively low as compared to other types of investment companies. ETFs do not charge initial sales loads or redemption fees and investors pay only customary brokerage fees to buy and sell ETF shares.

In accordance with Section 12(d)(1)(F)(i) of the 1940 Act, the Fund may invest in ETFs and in other investment companies in excess of these limits, as long as the Fund (and all of its affiliated persons, including the Adviser) does not acquire more than the 3% Limitation. As discussed under the section entitled "Investment Companies", the Fund may also exceed some of the limits on investments in other investment companies, including ETFs, to the extent that it relies on Rule 12d1-4 under the 1940 Act.

While the creation and redemption of creation units helps an ETF maintain a market value close to NAV, the market value of an ETF's shares may differ from its NAV. This difference in price may be due to the fact that the supply and demand in the market for ETF shares at any point in time is not always identical to the supply and demand in the market for the ETF's underlying basket of securities. Accordingly, there may be times when an ETF trades at a premium (creating the risk that the Fund pays more than NAV for an ETF when making a purchase) or discount (creating the risk that the Fund's NAV is reduced for undervalued ETFs it holds, and that the Fund receives less than NAV when selling an ETF).

Money Market Instruments. The Fund may invest in money market instruments, which may include, without limitation, U.S. Government Obligations or corporate debt obligations (including those subject to repurchase agreements) as described herein. Money market instruments also may include Banker's Acceptances, Certificates of Deposit of domestic branches of U.S. banks, Commercial Paper, Variable Amount Demand Master Notes ("Master Notes") and shares of money market investment companies. The Fund may invest in shares of money market investment companies to the extent permitted by the 1940 Act.

Banker's Acceptances are time drafts drawn on and "accepted" by a bank, which are the customary means of effecting payment for merchandise sold in import-export transactions and are a source of financing used extensively in international trade. When a bank "accepts" such a time draft, it assumes liability for its payment. When the Fund acquires a Banker's Acceptance, the bank which "accepted" the time draft is

liable for payment of interest and principal when due. The Banker's Acceptance, therefore, carries the full faith and credit of such bank.

A Certificate of Deposit ("CD") is an unsecured, interest bearing debt obligation of a bank.

Commercial Paper is an unsecured, short-term debt obligation of a bank, corporation, or other borrower. Commercial Paper maturity generally ranges from two to 270 days and is usually sold on a discounted basis rather than as an interest-bearing instrument. The Fund will invest in Commercial Paper only if it is rated in the highest rating category by any nationally recognized statistical rating organization ("NRSRO") or, if not rated, if the issuer has an outstanding unsecured debt issue rated in the three highest categories by any NRSRO or, if not so rated, is of equivalent quality in the Adviser's assessment. Commercial Paper may include Master Notes of the same quality.

Master Notes are unsecured obligations which are redeemable upon demand of the holder and which permit the investment of fluctuating amounts at varying rates of interest. Master Notes will be acquired by the Fund only through the Master Note program of the Fund's custodian bank, acting as administrator thereof. The Adviser will monitor, on a continuous basis, the earnings power, cash flow, and other liquidity ratios of the issuer of a Master Note held by the Fund.

Debt Securities. The Fund may invest in corporate debt securities and U.S. Government Obligations, as defined below. Corporate securities include, but are not limited to, debt obligations offered by public or private corporations either registered or unregistered. The market value of such securities may fluctuate in response to interest rates and the creditworthiness of the issuer. A debt instrument's credit quality depends on the issuer's ability to pay interest on the security and repay the debt; the lower the credit rating, the greater the risk that the security's issuer will default. The credit risk of a security may also depend on the credit quality of any bank or financial institution that provides credit enhancement for the security. In the case of corporate debt, the Fund will normally purchase investment grade securities, meaning securities rated BBB or better by S&P's Global Ratings or any comparable rating by another NRSRO or, if unrated, as determined by the Adviser to be of comparable quality.

U.S. Government Obligations. The Fund may invest in U.S. Government Obligations. "U.S. Government Obligations" include securities which are issued or guaranteed by the U.S. Department of the Treasury (the "U.S. Treasury"), by various agencies of the U.S. government, and by various instrumentalities which have been established or sponsored by the U.S. government. U.S. Treasury obligations are backed by the "full faith and credit" of the U.S. government. U.S. Treasury obligations include Treasury Bills, Treasury Notes, and Treasury Bonds. Treasury Bills have initial maturities of one year or less; Treasury Notes have initial maturities of one to ten years; and Treasury Bonds generally have initial maturities of greater than ten years.

Agencies and instrumentalities established by the U.S. government include the Federal Home Loan Banks, the Federal Land Bank, the Government National Mortgage Association, the Federal National Mortgage Association, the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation, the Small Business Administration, the Bank for Cooperatives, the Federal Intermediate Credit Bank, the Federal Financing Bank, the Federal Farm Credit Banks, the Federal Agricultural Mortgage Corporation, the Resolution Funding Corporation, the Financing Corporation of America and the Tennessee Valley Authority. Some of these securities are supported by the full faith and credit of the U.S. government while others are supported only by the credit of the agency or instrumentality, which may include the right of the issuer to borrow from the U.S. Treasury. In the case of U.S. Government Obligations not backed by the full faith and credit of the U.S. government, the investor must look principally to the agency or instrumentality issuing or guaranteeing the obligation for ultimate repayment, and may not be able to assert a claim against the U.S. government itself in the event the agency or instrumentality does not meet its commitment. U.S. Government Obligations are subject to

price fluctuations based upon changes in the level of interest rates, which will generally result in all those securities changing in price in the same way, i.e., all those securities experiencing appreciation when interest rates decline and depreciation when interest rates rise. Any guarantee of the U.S. government will not extend to the yield or value of the Fund's shares.

LIBOR Transition Risk. LIBOR historically has been used extensively in the U.S. and globally as a "benchmark" or "reference rate" for various commercial and financial contracts, including corporate and municipal bonds, bank loans, asset-backed and mortgage-related securities, interest rate swaps and other derivatives. For example, debt securities in which the Fund invests may currently pay or may have previously paid interest at floating rates based on LIBOR or may currently be, or may previously have been, subject to interest caps or floors based on LIBOR. Derivative investments made by the Fund may currently, or may have previously, also referenced LIBOR. In addition, issuers of instruments in which the Fund invest may currently obtain, or may have previously obtained, financing at floating rates based on LIBOR, and the Fund may use, to the extent applicable, leverage or borrowings based on LIBOR. The head of the United Kingdom Financial Conduct Authority ("FCA") has indicted the intention to phase out the use of LIBOR. In a series of 2021 releases, the FCA announced that the 1-week and 2-month U.S. dollar reference rates and all non-U.S. dollar reference rates would cease to be published or would no longer be representative after December 31, 2021. The FCA also announced that the remaining U.S. dollar LIBOR reference rates (overnight and 1-, 3-, 6-, and 12- month) will continue to be published on a representative basis until June 30, 2023. It is expected that market participants have or will transition to the use of different reference or benchmark indices. Although the transition process away from LIBOR has become increasingly welldefined in advance of the anticipated discontinuation dates, the impact on certain debt securities, derivatives and other financial instruments remains uncertain. While it is expected that market participants will adopt alternative rates such as Secured Overnight Financing Rate (SOFR) or otherwise amend financial instruments referencing LIBOR to include fallback provisions and other measures that contemplate the discontinuation of LIBOR or other similar market disruption events, neither the effect of the transition process nor the viability of such measures is known. Moreover, uncertainty and risk remain regarding the willingness and ability of issuers and lenders to include alternative rates and revised provisions in new and existing contracts and instruments. The transition process away from LIBOR might lead to increased volatility and illiquidity in markets for instruments whose terms currently or previously included LIBOR. It could also lead to a reduction in the value of some LIBOR-based investments and reduce the effectiveness of new hedges placed against existing LIBOR-based investments. All of the aforementioned may adversely affect the Fund's performance or NAV.

Repurchase Agreements. The Fund may invest, directly or indirectly, in repurchase agreements. A repurchase agreement transaction occurs when an investor (e.g., the Fund) purchases a security (normally a U.S. government security) from a counterparty with the understanding that the investor will later resell the security to the same counterparty (normally a member bank of the Federal Reserve or a registered government securities dealer). The Fund's initial purchase is essentially a loan to the counterparty that is collateralized by the security (and/or securities substituted for them under the repurchase agreement). The Fund must return the security to the counterparty when the counterparty repurchases it at a later date and higher price. The repurchase price exceeds the purchase price by an amount that reflects an agreed upon market interest rate effective for the period of time during which the repurchase agreement is in effect. Delivery pursuant to the resale normally will occur within one to seven days of the purchase. Repurchase agreements are considered "loans" under the 1940 Act, collateralized by the underlying security. The Trust has implemented procedures to monitor on a continuous basis the value of the collateral serving as security for repurchase obligations. The Adviser will consider the creditworthiness of the counterparty. If the counterparty fails to pay the agreed upon resale price on the delivery date, the Fund will retain or attempt to dispose of the collateral. The Fund's risk is that such default may include any decline in value of the collateral to an amount which is less than 100% of the repurchase price, any costs of disposing of such collateral, and any loss resulting from any delay in foreclosing on the collateral. The Fund will not enter

into any repurchase agreement that would cause more than 15% of its net assets to be invested in repurchase agreements that extend beyond seven days.

Illiquid Investments. The Fund may not purchase or otherwise acquire any illiquid investment if, immediately after the acquisition, the value of illiquid investments held by the Fund would exceed 15% of the Fund's net assets. An illiquid investment is any investment that the Fund reasonably expects cannot be sold or disposed of in current market conditions in seven calendar days or less without the sale or disposition significantly changing the market value of the investment. Illiquid investments pose risks of potential delays in resale and uncertainty in valuation. Limitations on resale may have an adverse effect on the marketability of portfolio investments and the Fund may be unable to dispose of illiquid investments promptly or at reasonable prices. Under the supervision of the Trust's Board of Trustees (the "Board"), the Adviser determines the liquidity of the Fund's investments and, through reports from the Adviser, the Trustees monitor investments in illiquid investments. If through a change in values, net assets, or other circumstances, the Fund was in a position where more than 15% of its net assets were invested in illiquid investments, it would seek to take appropriate steps to bring the Fund's illiquid investments to or below 15% of its net assets per the requirements of Rule 22e-4 of the 1940 Act. The sale of some illiquid and other types of investments may be subject to legal restrictions.

If the Fund invests in investments for which there is no ready market, the Fund may not be able to readily sell such investments. Such investments are unlike investments that are traded in the open market, and which can be expected to be sold immediately if the market is adequate. The sale price of illiquid investments once realized may be lower or higher than the Adviser's most recent estimate of their fair market value. Generally, less public information is available about issuers of such illiquid investments than about companies whose investments are publicly traded.

Restricted Securities. Within its limitation on investment in illiquid investments, the Fund may purchase restricted securities that generally can be sold in privately negotiated transactions, pursuant to an exemption from registration under the federal securities laws, or in a registered public offering. Where registration is required, the Fund may be obligated to pay all or part of the registration expense and a considerable period may elapse between the time it decides to seek registration and the time the Fund may be permitted to sell a security under an effective registration statement. If during such a period adverse market conditions were to develop, the Fund might obtain a less favorable price than prevailed when it decided to seek registration of the security.

Restricted securities are generally considered to be illiquid unless it is determined, based upon a review of the trading markets for a specific restricted security, that such restricted security is liquid because it is so-called "4(a)(2) commercial paper" or is otherwise eligible for resale pursuant to Rule 144A under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended ("144A Securities"). Investing in 144A Securities may decrease the liquidity of the Fund's portfolio to the extent that qualified institutional buyers become for a time uninterested in purchasing these restricted securities. The purchase price and subsequent valuation of restricted securities normally reflect a discount, which may be significant, from the market price of comparable securities for which a liquid market exists.

Borrowing Money. The Fund may, to the extent permitted under the 1940 Act, borrow money to meet redemption requests or for extraordinary or for emergency purposes. Borrowing involves the creation of a liability that requires the Fund to pay interest. In the event the Fund should ever borrow money under these conditions, such borrowing could increase the Fund's costs and thus reduce the value of the Fund's assets. In an extreme case, if the Fund's current investment income were not sufficient to meet the interest expense of borrowing, it could be necessary for the Fund to liquidate certain of its investments at an inappropriate time.

Lending of Portfolio Securities. In order to generate additional income, the Fund may lend portfolio securities in an amount up to 331/3% of its total assets to broker-dealers, major banks, or other recognized domestic institutional borrowers of securities that the Adviser has determined are creditworthy under guidelines established by the Board. In determining whether the Fund will lend securities, the Adviser will consider all relevant facts and circumstances. The Fund may not lend securities to any company affiliated with the Adviser. Each loan of securities will be collateralized by cash, securities, or letters of credit. The Fund might experience a loss if the borrower defaults on the loan.

The borrower at all times during the loan must maintain with the Fund collateral in the form of cash or cash equivalents, or provide to the Fund an irrevocable letter of credit equal in value to at least 100% of the value of the securities loaned. While the loan is outstanding, the borrower will pay the Fund any dividends or interest paid on the loaned securities, and the Fund may invest the cash collateral to earn additional income. Alternatively, the Fund may receive an agreed-upon amount of interest income from the borrower who has delivered equivalent collateral or a letter of credit. It is anticipated that the Fund may share with the borrower some of the income received on the collateral for the loan or the Fund will be paid a premium for the loan. Loans are subject to termination at the option of the Fund or the borrower at any time. The Fund may pay reasonable administrative and custodial fees in connection with a loan, and may pay a negotiated portion of the income earned on the cash to the borrower or placing broker. As with other extensions of credit, there are risks of delay in recovery or even loss of rights in the collateral should the borrower fail financially. If the Fund invests the cash collateral from the borrower, there is the risk that such investment may result in a financial loss. In such an event, the Fund would be required to repay the borrower out of the Fund's assets.

Where voting rights with respect to the loaned securities pass with the lending of the securities, the Adviser normally intends to call the loaned securities to vote proxies, or to use other practicable and legally enforceable means to obtain voting rights, when the Adviser believes a material event affecting the loaned securities will occur or the Adviser otherwise believes it prudent to vote.

Economic and Regulatory Risks. Domestic and foreign governments and agencies thereof often adopt an active approach to managing economic conditions within a nation, which may have material effects on the securities markets within the nation. A government may pursue supportive policies that include, but are not limited to, lowering corporate and personal tax rates and launching simulative government spending programs designed to improve the national economy or sectors thereof. Agencies of a government, including central banks, may pursue supporting policies that include, but are not limited to, setting lower interest rate targets and buying and selling securities in the public markets. Governments and agencies thereof may also attempt to slow economic growth if the pace of economic growth is perceived to be too great and pose a long-term risk to the economy or a sector thereof. In each instance, the actions taken may be less successful than anticipated or may have unintended adverse consequences. Such a failure or investor perception that such efforts are failing could negatively affect securities markets generally, as well as result in higher interest rates, increased market volatility and reduced value and liquidity of certain securities, including securities held by the Fund.

In addition, governments and agencies thereof may enact additional regulation or engage in deregulation that negatively impacts the general securities markets or a sector thereof. Given the potential broad scope and sweeping nature of some regulatory actions, the potential impact a regulatory action may have on securities held by the Fund may be difficult to determine and may not be fully known for an extended period of time. Accordingly, regulatory actions could adversely affect the Fund.

Changing Fixed Income Market Conditions. Following the financial crisis that began in 2007, the U.S. government and the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (the "Federal Reserve"), as well as certain foreign governments and central banks, took steps to support financial markets, including

seeking to maintain interest rates at or near historically low levels and by purchasing large quantities of fixed income securities on the open market, such as securities issued or guaranteed by the U.S. government, its agencies or instrumentalities ("Quantitative Easing"). Similar steps took place again in 2020 in an effort to support the economy during the COVID-19 pandemic. However, more recently, interest rates have begun to increase as a result of action that has been taken by the Federal Reserve, which has raised, and may continue to raise, interest rates. Such actions may expose fixed-income and related markets to heightened volatility and may reduce liquidity for certain fixed income investments, including fixed income investments held by the Fund, which could cause the value of the Fund's investments and share price to decline, potentially suddenly and significantly, which may negatively impact the Fund's performance, and/or may increase shareholder redemptions from the Fund. Heavy redemptions could cause the Fund to sell assets at inopportune times or at a loss or depressed value and could hurt the Fund's performance. To the extent that the Fund invests in derivatives tied to fixed income markets, the Fund will be more substantially exposed to these risks than a fund that does not invest in such derivatives.

Cybersecurity Risk. The Fund and its service providers may be subject to operational and information security risks resulting from breaches in cybersecurity. A breach in cybersecurity refers to both intentional and unintentional events that may cause the Fund to lose or compromise confidential, proprietary or private personal information, suffer data corruption or lose operational capacity. Breaches in cybersecurity include, among other things, stealing or corrupting data maintained online or digitally, denial of service attacks on websites, the unauthorized release of confidential, proprietary or private personal information or various other operational disruptions. Successful cybersecurity breaches of the Fund and/or the Fund's investment adviser, distributor, custodian, transfer agent, or other third-party service providers may adversely impact the Fund and its shareholders. For instance, a successful cybersecurity breach may interfere with the processing of shareholder transactions, impact the Fund's ability to calculate its NAV, cause the release of confidential, proprietary or private personal shareholder information, impede trading, subject the Fund to regulatory fines or financial losses, and/or cause reputational damage. The Fund relies on third-party service providers for many of the day-to-day operations, and is therefore subject to the risk that the protections and protocols implemented by those service providers will be ineffective in protecting the Fund from cybersecurity breaches. Similar types of cybersecurity risks are also present for issuers of securities in which the Fund may invest, which could result in material adverse consequences for such issuers and may cause the Fund's investments in such companies to lose value. There is no guarantee the Fund will be successful in protecting against cybersecurity breaches.

Temporary Defensive Positions. The Fund may from time to time take temporary defensive positions that are inconsistent with its principal investment strategies. If the Adviser believes a temporary defensive position is warranted in view of market conditions, the Fund may hold cash or invest up to 100% of its assets in high-quality short-term government or corporate obligations, money market instruments or shares of money market mutual funds. Taking a temporary defensive position may prevent the Fund from achieving its investment objective.

Operational Risk. An investment in the Fund involves operational risk arising from factors such as processing errors, human errors, inadequate or failed internal or external processes, failures in systems and technology, changes in personnel and errors caused by third-party service providers. Any of these failures or errors could result in a loss or compromise of information, regulatory scrutiny, reputational damage or other events, any of which could have a material adverse effect on the Fund. While the Fund seeks to minimize such events through controls and oversight, there is no guarantee that the Fund will not suffer losses due to operational risk.

Portfolio Turnover. The portfolio turnover rate for the Fund is calculated by dividing the lesser of the Fund's purchases or sales of portfolio securities for the year by the monthly average value of the

securities. The Fund's portfolio turnover rate may vary greatly from year to year as well as within a particular year, and may also be affected by cash requirements for redemption of shares. High portfolio turnover rates will generally result in higher transaction costs to the Fund, including brokerage commissions, and may result in additional tax consequences to the Fund's shareholders. Portfolio turnover will not be a factor in making buy and sell decisions for the Fund. For the fiscal period/year listed below, the portfolio turnover rate for the Fund was:

Fiscal Year/Period ended February 28,	Portfolio Turnover Rate	
2023	10%	

INVESTMENT RESTRICTIONS

The Fund has adopted the following fundamental investment limitations that may not be changed without the affirmative vote of a majority of the outstanding shares of the Fund. As used in the Prospectus and this SAI, the term "majority" of the outstanding shares of the Fund means the lesser of (1) 67% or more of the outstanding voting securities of the Fund present at a meeting, if the holders of more than 50% of the outstanding voting securities of the Fund are present or represented at such meeting; or (2) more than 50% of the outstanding voting securities of the Fund. Unless otherwise indicated, percentage limitations apply at the time of purchase of the applicable securities. See the Prospectus for more information about the Fund's investment objective and investment strategies, each of which are not fundamental and may be changed without shareholder approval.

FUNDAMENTAL RESTRICTIONS. As a matter of fundamental policy:

- 1. <u>Borrowing Money</u>. The Fund will not borrow money except as permitted under the 1940 Act. For example, subject to the restrictions of the 1940 Act the Fund may borrow money from banks to meet redemption requests or for extraordinary or emergency purposes.
- 2. <u>Senior Securities</u>. The Fund will not issue senior securities, except as permitted by the 1940 Act, the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder or interpretations of the SEC or its staff.
- 3. <u>Underwriting</u>. The Fund will not act as underwriter, except to the extent that, in connection with the disposition of portfolio securities (including restricted securities), the Fund may be deemed an underwriter under certain federal securities laws or in connection with investments in other investment companies.
- 4. <u>Real Estate</u>. The Fund will not directly purchase or sell real estate. This limitation is not applicable to investments in marketable securities which are secured by or represent interests in real estate. This limitation does not preclude the Fund from holding or selling real estate acquired as a result of the Fund's ownership of securities or other instruments, investing in mortgage-related securities or investing in companies engaged in the real estate business or that have a significant portion of their assets in real estate (including real estate investment trusts).
- 5. <u>Commodities</u>. The Fund will not purchase or sell commodities unless acquired as a result of ownership of securities or other investments. This limitation does not preclude the Fund from purchasing or selling options, forward contracts, or futures contracts, including those relating to indices, or options on futures contracts or indices, or from investing in securities or other instruments backed by commodities or from investing in companies which are engaged in a commodities business or have a significant portion of their assets in commodities.

6. Loans. The Fund will not make loans to other persons, provided that the Fund may lend its portfolio securities in an amount up to 33% of total Fund assets, and provided further that, for purposes of this restriction, investment in U.S. Government Obligations, short-term commercial paper, certificates of deposit, bankers' acceptances, repurchase agreements and any other lending arrangement permitted by the 1940 Act, any rules and regulations promulgated thereunder or interpretations of the SEC or its staff shall not be deemed to be the making of a "loan". For purposes of this limitation, the term "loans" shall not include the purchase of a portion of an issue of publicly distributed bonds, debentures or other debt securities.

7. Concentration. The Fund will not invest more than 25% of its total assets in a particular industry. This limitation is not applicable to investments in obligations issued or guaranteed by the U.S. government (including its agencies and instrumentalities) or state or municipal governments and their political subdivisions (other than revenue bonds issued in connection with an identifiable industry; e.g., healthcare or education) or repurchase agreements with respect thereto, or investments in registered investment companies.

With respect to the "fundamental" investment restrictions above, if a percentage limitation is adhered to at the time of investment, a later increase or decrease in percentage resulting from any change in value or net assets will not result in a violation of such restriction (i.e., percentage limitations are determined at the time of purchase); provided, however, that the treatment of the fundamental restrictions related to borrowing money and issuing senior securities are exceptions to this general rule and are monitored on an ongoing basis.

Senior securities may include any obligation or instrument issued by a fund evidencing indebtedness. The 1940 Act generally prohibits funds from issuing senior securities, although it does not treat certain transactions as senior securities, such as certain borrowings, short sales, reverse repurchase agreements, firm commitment agreements and standby commitments with appropriate earmarking or segregation of assets to cover such obligation.

The 1940 Act permits the Fund to borrow money from banks in an amount up to one-third of its total assets (including the amount borrowed) less its liabilities (not including any borrowings but including the fair market value at the time of computation of any other senior securities then outstanding). In general, the Fund may not issue any class of senior security, except that the Fund may borrow from banks, provided that immediately following any such borrowing there is an asset coverage of at least 300% for all Fund borrowings and in the event such asset coverage falls below 300% the Fund will within three days (excluding holidays and Sundays) or such longer period as the SEC may prescribe by rules and regulation, reduce the amount of its borrowings to an extent that the asset coverage of such borrowings shall be at least 300%. In accordance with Rule 18f-4 under the 1940 Act, the Fund will either treat reverse repurchase agreements and similar financing transactions as derivatives subject to limitations of Rule 18f-4 or as senior securities equivalent to bank borrowings subject to the asset coverage requirements of Section 18 of the 1940 Act.

CALCULATION OF SHARE PRICE

The share price or NAV of shares of the Fund is determined as of the close of the regular session of trading on the New York Stock Exchange (the "NYSE") on each day the NYSE is open for trading. Currently, the NYSE is open for trading on every day except Saturdays, Sundays and the following holidays: New Year's Day, Martin Luther King, Jr. Day, Presidents' Day, Good Friday, Memorial Day, Juneteenth National Independence Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day and Christmas Day.

For purposes of computing the Fund's NAV, securities are valued at market value as of the close of regular trading on the NYSE (normally, 4:00 p.m. Eastern Time) on each business day the NYSE is open. Securities listed on the NYSE or other exchanges are valued based on their last sale prices on the exchanges on which they are primarily traded. If there are no sales on that day, the securities are valued at the mean of the closing bid and ask prices on the NYSE or other primary exchange for that day. National Association of Securities Dealers Automated Quotations ("NASDAQ") listed securities are valued at the NASDAQ Official Closing Price. If there are no sales on that day, the securities are valued at the mean of the most recently quoted bid and ask prices as reported by NASDAQ. Securities traded in the OTC market are valued at the last sale price, if available, otherwise at the mean of the most recently quoted bid and ask prices.

In the event that market quotations are not readily available or are considered unreliable due to market or other events, securities and other assets are valued at fair value as determined by the Adviser, as the Fund's valuation designee, in accordance with procedures adopted by the Board, pursuant to Rule 2a-5 under the 1940 Act. Fixed-income securities are normally valued based on prices obtained from independent third-party pricing services approved by the Board, which are generally determined with consideration given to institutional bid and last sale prices and take into account security prices, yield, maturity, call features, ratings, institutional sized trading in similar groups of securities and developments related to specific securities. Foreign securities are normally valued on the basis of fair valuation prices obtained from independent third-party pricing services approved by the Board, which are generally determined with consideration given to any change in price of the foreign security and any other developments related to the foreign security since the last sale price on the exchange on which such foreign security primarily traded and the close of regular trading on the NYSE. One or more pricing services may be utilized to determine the fair value of securities held by the Fund. The methods used by independent pricing services and the quality of valuations so established are reviewed by the Adviser and the Fund's administrator (the "Administrator") under the general supervision of the Board. To the extent the assets of the Fund are invested in other open-end investment companies that are registered under the 1940 Act and not traded on an exchange, the Fund's NAV is calculated based upon the NAVs reported by such registered open-end investment companies, and the prospectuses for these companies explain the circumstances under which they will use fair value pricing and the effects of using fair value pricing. To the extent the Fund has portfolio securities that are primarily listed on foreign exchanges that trade on weekends or other days when the Fund does not price its shares, the NAV of the Fund's shares may change on days when shareholders will not be able to purchase or redeem the Fund's shares.

ADDITIONAL PURCHASE AND REDEMPTION INFORMATION

Shares of the Fund are offered for sale on a continuous basis. Shares are sold and redeemed at their NAV, as next determined after receipt of the purchase or redemption order in proper form.

The Fund may suspend the right of redemption or postpone the date of payment for shares during a period when: (a) trading on the NYSE is restricted by applicable rules and regulations of the SEC; (b) the NYSE is closed for other than customary weekend and holiday closings; (c) the SEC has by order permitted these suspensions; or (d) an emergency exists as a result of which: (i) disposal by the Fund of securities

owned by it is not reasonably practicable, or (ii) it is not reasonably practicable for the Fund to determine the value of its assets.

The Fund reserves the right to make payment for a redemption in securities rather than cash, which is known as a "redemption in kind". Redemptions in kind will be made only under extraordinary circumstances and if the Fund deems it advisable for the benefit of its shareholders, such as a very large redemption that could affect Fund operations (for example, more than 1% of the Fund's net assets). A redemption in kind will consist of liquid securities equal in market value to the Fund shares being redeemed, using the same valuation procedures that the Fund uses to compute its NAV. Redemption in kind proceeds will typically be made by delivering a pro-rata amount of the Fund's holdings that are readily marketable securities to the redeeming shareholder within 7 days after the Fund's receipt of the redemption order in proper form. If the Fund redeems your shares in kind, you will bear the market risks associated with maintaining or selling the securities paid as redemption proceeds. In addition, when you sell these securities, you bear the risk that the securities have become less liquid and are difficult to sell. You also will be responsible for any taxes and brokerage charges associated with selling the securities.

SPECIAL SHAREHOLDER SERVICES

As noted in the Prospectus, the Fund offers the following shareholder services:

Regular Account. The regular account allows for voluntary investments to be made at any time. Available to individuals, custodians, corporations, trusts, estates, corporate retirement plans and others, investors are free to make additions to and withdrawals from their account as often as they wish. When an investor makes an initial investment in the Fund, a shareholder account is opened in accordance with the investor's registration instructions. Each time there is a transaction in a shareholder account, such as an additional investment or a redemption, the shareholder will receive a confirmation statement showing the current transaction.

Automatic Investment Plan. The automatic investment plan enables investors to make regular periodic investments in shares through automatic charges to their checking account. With shareholder authorization and bank approval, the Fund's transfer agent will automatically charge the checking account for the amount specified (\$100 minimum) which will be automatically invested in shares at the NAV on or about the fifteenth and/or the last business day of the month, or both. The shareholder may change the amount of the investment or discontinue the plan at any time by writing to the Fund.

Transfer of Registration. To transfer shares to another owner, send a written request to Nia Impact Solutions Fund, P.O. Box 46707, Cincinnati, Ohio 45246-0707. Your request should include the following: (i) the Fund name and existing account registration; (ii) signature(s) of the registered owner(s) exactly as the signature(s) appear(s) on the account registration; (iii) if it is for a new account, a completed account application, or if it is an existing account, the account number; (iv) Medallion signature guarantees (See the heading "How to Redeem Shares – Signature Guarantees" in the Prospectus); and (v) any additional documents that are required for transfer by corporations, administrators, executors, trustees, guardians, etc. If you have any questions about transferring shares, call or write the Fund.

MANAGEMENT OF THE TRUST

Overall responsibility for management and supervision of the Fund and the Trust rests with the Board. The members of the Board (the "Trustees") are elected by the Trust's shareholders or the existing members of the Board as permitted under the 1940 Act and the Trust's Agreement and Declaration of Trust (the "Declaration of Trust"). Each Trustee serves for a term of indefinite duration until death, resignation, retirement or removal from office. The Trustees, in turn, elect the officers of the Trust to actively supervise the Trust's day-to-day operations. The officers are elected annually. Certain officers of the Trust also may serve as Trustees.

The Trust will be managed by the Board in accordance with the laws of the State of Ohio governing business trusts. There are currently six Trustees, five of whom are not "interested persons," as defined by the 1940 Act, of the Trust (the "Independent Trustees"). The Independent Trustees receive compensation for their services as Trustees and attendance at meetings of the Board. Officers of the Trust receive no compensation from the Trust for performing the duties of their offices.

Attached in Appendix A is a list of the Trustees and executive officers of the Trust, their year of birth and address, their present position with the Trust, length of time served in their position, their principal occupation(s) during the past five years, and any other directorships held by the Trustees. Those Trustees who are "interested persons" as defined in the 1940 Act and those Trustees who are Independent Trustees are identified in the table.

Leadership Structure and Qualifications of Trustees.

As noted above, the Board consists of six Trustees, five of whom are Independent Trustees. The Board is responsible for the oversight of the series, or funds, of the Trust.

In addition to the Fund, the Trust has other series managed by other investment advisers. The Board has engaged various investment advisers to oversee the day-to-day management of the Trust's series. The Board is responsible for overseeing these investment advisers and the Trust's other service providers in the operations of the Trust in accordance with the 1940 Act, other applicable federal and state laws, and the Declaration of Trust.

The Board meets at least four times throughout the year. The Board generally meets in person, but may meet by telephone or videoconference as permitted by the 1940 Act. In addition, the Trustees may meet in person, by telephone or videoconference at special meetings or on an informal basis at other times. The Independent Trustees also meet at least quarterly without the presence of any representatives of management.

Board Leadership

The Board is led by its Chairperson, Ms. Janine L. Cohen, who is also an Independent Trustee. The Chairperson generally presides at all Board Meetings, facilitates communication and coordination between the Trustees and management, and reviews meeting agendas for the Board and the information provided by management to the Trustees. The Chairperson works closely with Trust counsel and counsel to the Independent Trustees, and is also assisted by the Trust's President, who, with the assistance of the Trust's other officers, oversees the daily operations of the Fund, including monitoring the activities of all of the Fund's service providers.

The Board believes that its leadership structure, including having an Independent Trustee serve as Chairperson and five out of six Trustees as Independent Trustees, is appropriate and in the best interests of

the Trust. The Board also believes its leadership structure facilitates the orderly and efficient flow of information to the Independent Trustees from Trust management.

Board Committees. The Board has established the following standing committees:

Audit Committee: The principal functions of the Audit Committee are: (i) to appoint, retain and oversee the Trust's independent registered public accounting firm; (ii) to meet separately with the independent registered public accounting firm and receive and consider a report concerning its conduct of the audit, including any comments or recommendations it deems appropriate; (iii) to act as the Trust's qualified legal compliance committee ("QLCC"), as defined in the regulations under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act; and (iv) to act as a proxy voting committee if called upon under the Trust's Proxy Voting Policies and Procedures when a matter with respect to which a series of the Trust is entitled to vote presents a conflict between the interest of the series' shareholders, on the one hand, and those of the series' investment manager on the other hand. Messrs. David M. Deptula, Robert E. Morrison, and Clifford N. Schireson, and Mses. Janine L. Cohen and Jacqueline A. Williams are the members of the Audit Committee. Mr. Deptula is the Chairperson of the Audit Committee and presides at its meetings. The Audit Committee met six times during the Fund's fiscal period ended February 28, 2023.

Nominations and Governance Committee (the "Governance Committee"): The Governance Committee nominates and selects persons to serve as members of the Board, including Independent Trustees and "interested" Trustees and assists in reviewing the Trust's governance practices and standards. In selecting and nominating persons to serve as Independent Trustees, the Governance Committee will not consider nominees recommended by shareholders of the Trust unless required by law. Messrs. Deptula, Morrison, and Schireson and Mses. Cohen and Williams are the members of the Governance Committee. Mr. Morrison is the Chairperson of the Governance Committee and presides at its meetings. The Governance Committee met four times during the Fund's fiscal period ended February 28, 2023.

Qualifications of the Trustees. The Governance Committee reviews the experience, qualifications, attributes and skills of potential candidates for nomination or election by the Board. In evaluating a candidate for nomination or election as a Trustee, the Governance Committee takes into account the contribution that the candidate would be expected to make to the diverse mix of experience, qualifications, attributes and skills that the Governance Committee believes contribute to the oversight of the Trust's affairs. The Board has concluded, based on the recommendation of the Governance Committee, that each Trustee's experience, qualifications, attributes or skills on both an individual basis and in combination with the other Trustees, that each Trustee is qualified to serve on the Board. The Board believes that the Trustees' ability to review critically, evaluate, question and discuss information provided to them, to interact effectively with the Adviser, other service providers, legal counsel and the independent registered public accounting firm, and to exercise effective business judgment in the performance of their duties as Trustees support this conclusion. In determining that a particular Trustee is and will continue to be qualified to serve as a Trustee, the Board considers a variety of criteria, none of which, in isolation, is controlling.

In addition to the Trustee qualifications listed above, each of the Trustees has additional Trustee qualifications including, among other things, the experience identified in the "Trustees and Executive Officers" table included in Appendix A and as follows:

Interested Trustee

David James currently serves as Executive Vice President and Chief Legal and Risk Officer of Ultimus Fund Solutions, LLC ("Ultimus"). Mr. James is also a Trustee of Capitol Series Trust. He has over 25 years of experience in the mutual fund servicing industry. He served as an Assistant Secretary of the Trust from October 2021 until April 2023 and Secretary of the Trust from July 2021 to October 2021.

Before joining Ultimus in 2018, Mr. James served as the Department Head of State Street Bank and Trust Company's Fund Administration Legal Department, a group of over 54 attorneys and paralegals that provided legal regulatory services to over 60 mutual fund complexes. Mr. James spent 15 years at State Street, and prior to that role, he worked in the legal departments for Fidelity Investments and PNC Global Investment Servicing (US), Inc. Before entering the financial services industry in 1997, Mr. James began his legal career as a trial attorney in Boston. Mr. James serves on (i) the Chief Risk Officer Committee of the Investment Company Institute ("ICI"), (ii) the Legal and Regulatory Committee of the National Investment Company Service Association ("NICSA"), and (iii) NICSA's Compliance and Risk Committee. He has also served on industry panels for BoardIQ, Independent Directors Council of the ICI, NICSA, State Street, and Boston Financial Data Services. Mr. James holds a law degree from Ohio Northern University Pettit College of Law (1995). He also holds a Bachelor of Science in Political Science from East Tennessee State University (1993). He is a member of the Massachusetts and New York Bars and maintains active Ohio Corporate Counsel Status. Mr. James has been a Trustee since April 22, 2023.

<u>Independent Trustees</u>

David M. Deptula has served as Vice President of Legal and Special Projects for Dayton Freight Lines, Inc. since February 1, 2016. Prior to that position, Mr. Deptula was Vice President of Tax Treasury for Standard Register, Inc. (a company that provides solutions for companies to manage their critical communications, previously The Standard Register Company) ("Standard Register") since November 2011. (Standard Register, a newly formed subsidiary of Taylor Corporation, purchased assets of The Standard Register Company on July 31, 2015.) Prior to joining Standard Register, Mr. Deptula was a Tax Partner at Deloitte Tax LLP ("Deloitte"). Mr. Deptula joined Deloitte in 1984 and remained with Deloitte until October of 2011. During his tenure at Deloitte, he was actively involved in providing tax accounting services to open-end mutual funds and other financial services companies. Mr. Deptula holds a B.S. in Accounting from Wright State University and a Juris Doctor from University of Toledo. He is also a Certified Public Accountant. Mr. Deptula has been a Trustee since June 2012.

Janine L. Cohen, retired, was an executive at AER Advisors, Inc. ("AER") from 2004 through her retirement in 2013. Ms. Cohen served as the Chief Financial Officer ("CFO") from 2004 to 2013 and Chief Compliance Officer ("CCO") from 2008 to 2013 at AER. During her tenure at AER, she was actively involved in developing financial forecasts, business plans, and SEC registrations. Prior to those roles at AER, Ms. Cohen was a Senior Vice President at State Street Bank. Ms. Cohen has over 30 years of experience in the financial services industry. She holds a B.S. in Accounting and Math from the University of Minnesota and is a Certified Public Accountant. Ms. Cohen has been the Chairperson since October 2019 and a Trustee since January 2016.

Jacqueline A. Williams has served as the Managing Member of Custom Strategies Consulting, LLC since 2017, where she provides consulting services to investment managers. Prior to that, she served as a Managing Director of Global Investment Research for Cambridge Associates, LLC since 2005. Earlier in her career, Ms. Williams served as a Principal at Equinox Capital Management, LLC where she was chairperson of the stock selection committee and the firm's financial services analyst. Ms. Williams also served as an Investment Analyst at IBJ Schroder Bank & Trust Company where she monitored U.S. financial services stocks. Ms. Williams has over 25 years of experience in the investment management industry. Ms. Williams earned an A.B. in Religion from Duke University and a Ph.D. in Religious Studies from Yale University. She has been a Chartered Financial Analyst charter holder since 1990. Ms. Williams has been a Trustee since June 2019.

Clifford N. Schireson, retired, was the founder of Schireson Consulting, LLC, which he launched in 2017, until his retirement in 2021. Prior to that, Mr. Schireson was Director of Institutional Services from 2004 to 2017 at Brandes Investment Partners, LP, an investment advisory firm, where he also was co-head

of fixed income and a member of the fixed-income investment committee. From 1998 to 2004, he was a Managing Director at Weiss, Peck & Greer LLC specializing in fixed-income products for both taxable and municipal strategies for institutional clients. Mr. Schireson has over 20 years of experience in the investment management industry, as well as 20 years of experience in the investment banking industry. Mr. Schireson holds an A.B. in Economics from Stanford University and an M.B.A. from Harvard Business School. Mr. Schireson has been a Trustee since June 2019.

Robert E. Morrison serves as a Managing Director at Midwest Trust and FCI Advisors, where he has worked from February 2022 to present. Previously, he was a Senior Vice President at Huntington Private Bank, where he worked from 2014 to 2022. From 2006 to 2014, he served as the CEO, President and Chief Investment Officer of 5 Star Investment Management. Mr. Morrison has a B.S. in Forestry Management from Auburn University and is a graduate of the Personal Financial Planning program of Old Dominion University. Mr. Morrison previously served on the Ultimus Managers Trust Board of Trustees as the Founding Chairman of the Trust in 2012. Mr. Morrison retired from the Board in 2014 as a result of a business conflict that no longer exists. Mr. Morrison has over 32 years of financial services experience, focusing on asset management and wealth management. Mr. Morrison has been a Trustee since June 2019.

References above to the qualifications, attributes and skills of Trustees are pursuant to requirements of the SEC, do not constitute holding out the Board or any Trustee as having any special expertise or experience, and shall not impose any greater responsibility on any such person or on the Board by reason thereof.

Risk Oversight. The operation of a mutual fund, including its investment activities, generally involves a variety of risks. As part of its oversight of the Fund, the Board oversees risk through various regular board and committee activities. The Board, directly or through its committees, reviews reports from, among others, the Adviser, the Trust's CCO, the Trust's independent registered public accounting firm, and outside legal counsel, regarding risks faced by the Fund and the risk management programs of the Adviser, with respect to the Fund's investments and trading activities, and certain service providers. The actual dayto-day risk management with respect to the Fund resides with the Adviser, with respect to the Fund's investments and trading activities, and other service providers to the Fund. Although the risk management policies of the Adviser and the service providers are designed to be effective, there is no guarantee that they will anticipate or mitigate all risks. Not all risks that may affect the Fund can be identified, eliminated or mitigated and some risks simply may not be anticipated or may be beyond the control of the Board or the Adviser or other service providers. The Independent Trustees meet separately with the Trust's CCO at least annually, outside the presence of management, to discuss issues related to compliance. Furthermore, the Board receives an annual written report from the Trust's CCO regarding the operation of the compliance policies and procedures of the Trust and its primary service providers. As part of its oversight function, the Board also may hold special meetings or communicate directly with Trust management or the Trust's CCO to address matters arising between regular meetings.

The Board also receives quarterly reports from the Adviser on the investments and securities trading of the Fund, including the Fund's investment performance, as well as reports regarding the valuation of the Fund's securities (when applicable). The Board also receives quarterly reports from the Administrator, transfer agent (the "Transfer Agent") and distributor (the "Distributor") on regular quarterly items and, where appropriate and as needed, on specific issues. In addition, in its annual review of the Fund's investment advisory agreement (the "Advisory Agreement"), the Board reviews information provided by the Adviser relating to its operational capabilities, financial condition and resources. The Board also conducts an annual self-evaluation that includes a review of its effectiveness in overseeing, among other things, the number of funds in the Trust and the effectiveness of the Board's committee structure.

Trustees' Ownership of Fund Shares. The following table shows each Trustee's beneficial ownership of shares of the Fund and, on an aggregate basis, of shares of all funds within the Trust overseen by the Trustee. Information is provided as of December 31, 2022.

	Dollar Range of Shares of the	Aggregate Dollar Range of Shares Owned
Name of Trustee	Fund Owned by Trustee	of All Funds in Trust Overseen by Trustee
Interested Trustee		
David James*	None	None
Independent Trustees		
David M. Deptula	None	None
Janine L. Cohen	None	\$50,001 - \$100,000
Jacqueline A. Williams	None	None
Clifford N. Schireson	None	None
Robert E. Morrison	None	None

^{*} Mr. James' term as Trustee commenced April 22, 2023.

Ownership In Fund Affiliates. As of December 31, 2022, none of the Independent Trustees, nor members of their immediate families, owned, beneficially or of record, securities of the Adviser, the Distributor or any affiliate of the Adviser or the Distributor.

Trustee Compensation. No director, officer or employee of the Adviser or the Distributor receives any compensation from the Trust for serving as an officer or Trustee of the Trust. Prior to October 17, 2022, each Independent Trustee received a \$550 per meeting fee and a \$1,300 annual retainer from the Fund, except the Chairperson of the Board who received a \$1,700 annual retainer from the Fund. Effective October 17, 2022, each Independent Trustee receives a \$550 per meeting fee and a \$1,300 annual retainer for each series of the Trust, except the Chairperson of the Board who receives a \$1,700 annual retainer and the Chairperson of the Audit Committee receives a \$1,500 annual retainer for serving as such Chairperson. The Trust reimburses each Trustee and officer for their travel and other expenses incurred by attending meetings. The following table provides the amount of compensation paid to each Trustee during the Fund's fiscal period ended February 28, 2023:

Name of Trustee	Compensation From the Fund	Pension or Retirement Benefits Accrued As Part of Fund Expenses	Estimated Annual Benefits Upon Retirement	Total Compensation From all Funds Within the Trust
Interested Trustee		•		
David James*	None	None	None	None
Independent Trustees				
Janine L. Cohen	\$2,925	None	None	\$115,375
David M. Deptula	\$2,725	None	None	\$107,225
Jacqueline A. Williams	\$2,625	None	None	\$104,275
Clifford N. Schireson	\$2,625	None	None	\$104,275
Robert E. Morrison	\$2,625	None	None	\$104,275

Principal Holders of Voting Securities. As of June 6, 2023, the Trustees and officers of the Trust as a group owned beneficially owned (i.e., had direct or indirect voting or investment power) less than 1% of the then outstanding shares of the Fund. On the same date, the following shareholders owned of record more than 5% of the outstanding shares of beneficial interest in the Fund:

Name and Address of Record Owner	Percentage Ownership
NORTHERN TRUST AS CUST	72.69%
FBO LIBRA/FOUNDACTION AC 2670930	
P.O. BOX 92956	
CHICAGO, IL 60675	
NFS LLC FBO/BIN #910300850	20.42%
499 WASHINGTON BLVD	
JERSEY CITY, NJ 07310	
CAPINCO C/O US BANK NA	2.00%
1555 N RIVERCENTER DRIVE	
STE. 302	
MILWAUKEE, WI 53212	
FIRST STATE TRUST COMPANY	2.89%
DELAWARE CORPORATE CENTER I	
1 RIGHTER PARKWAY, SUITE 120	
WILMINGTON, DE 19803	

INVESTMENT ADVISER

Nia Impact Capital, located at 4900 Shattuck Avenue, #3648, Oakland, CA 94611, serves as the investment adviser to the Fund pursuant to the Advisory Agreement which is dated April 1, 2022. The Adviser was organized in 2017 and, in addition to the Fund, currently services separately managed accounts. The Adviser is controlled by Kristin Hull.

Subject to the Fund's investment objective and policies approved by the Board, the Adviser is responsible for providing the Fund with a continuous program of investing the Fund's assets and determining the composition of the Fund's portfolio.

The Advisory Agreement is effective for an initial period of two years, and will be renewed for periods of one year only so long as such renewal and continuance is specifically approved at least annually by the Board or by vote of a majority of the Fund's outstanding voting securities, provided the continuance is also approved by a majority of the Independent Trustees. The Advisory Agreement is terminable without penalty on 60 days' notice by the Board or by vote of a majority of the outstanding voting securities of the Fund. The Advisory Agreement provides that it will terminate automatically in the event of its "assignment," as such term is defined in the 1940 Act.

For its services, the Fund pays the Adviser a monthly investment advisory fee (the "Management Fee") computed at the annual rate of 0.95% of its average daily net assets. The Adviser has contractually agreed to reduce its Management Fee and to reimburse Fund expenses to the extent necessary to limit Total Annual Operating Expenses (excluding brokerage costs, taxes, interest, borrowing costs such as interest and dividend expenses on securities sold short, costs to organize the Fund, Acquired Fund fees and expenses, and extraordinary expenses such as litigation and merger or reorganization costs and other

expenses not incurred in the ordinary course of the Fund's business) to an amount not exceeding 0.99% of the average daily net assets for the Fund until June 30, 2025. Any such fee reductions by the Adviser, or reimbursements by the Adviser of expenses which are the Fund's obligation, are subject to repayment by the Fund for a period of three years after the date that such fees and expenses were incurred provided that the repayments do not cause Total Annual Fund Operating Expenses (exclusive of such reductions and reimbursements) to exceed (i) the expense limitation then in effect, if any, and (ii) the expense limitation in effect at the time the expenses to be repaid were incurred.

The Adviser manages the Fund's investments in accordance with the stated investment objective and policies of the Fund, subject to the oversight of the Board. The Adviser is responsible for investment decisions, and provides the Fund with a portfolio manager to execute purchases and sales of securities. The Advisory Agreement provides that the Adviser shall not be liable for any error of judgment or for any loss suffered by the Trust or the Fund in connection with the performance of its duties, except a loss resulting from a breach of fiduciary duty with respect to receipt of compensation for services (in which case any award of damages shall be limited to the period and the amount set forth in Section 36(b)(3) of the 1940 Act) or a loss resulting from willful misfeasance, bad faith or gross negligence on the part of the Adviser in the performance of its duties, or from reckless disregard of its duties and obligations thereunder.

The following table provides the compensation paid to the Adviser by the Fund and Management Fee reductions and expense reimbursements made by the Adviser during the fiscal year/period indicated:

				Net Advisory
Fiscal Period/Year	Management Fees	Management Fee	Expense	Fees Received
Ended February 28,	Accrued	Reductions	Reimbursements	By Adviser
2023	\$287,901	\$177,123	\$0	\$110,778

Portfolio Managers

The Fund is managed by Kristin Hull and Andrea Dalton (the "Portfolio Manager"), who have primary responsibility for the day-to-day implementation of investment strategies for the Fund.

Other Accounts Managed by Portfolio Managers. In addition to the Fund, each Portfolio Manager is responsible for the day-to-day management of certain other accounts. The table below shows the number of, and total assets in such other accounts as of February 28, 2023.

Total Accets

Portfolio Manager	Type of Accounts	Total Number of Other Accounts Managed	Total Assets of Other Accounts Managed (million)	Number of Accounts Managed with Advisory Fee Based on Performance	of Accounts Managed with Advisory Fee Based on Performance (million)
Kristin Hull, PhD	Registered Investment Companies Other Pooled	0	\$0	0	\$0
	Investment Vehicles	0	\$0	0	\$0
	Other Accounts	267	\$298.22	0	\$0
Andrea Dalton, CFA	Registered Investment Companies	0	\$0	0	\$0

Other Pooled				
Investment Vehicles	0	\$0	0	\$0
Other Accounts	267	\$298.22	0	\$0

Potential Conflicts of Interest. The Portfolio Managers serve as portfolio managers for the Fund and provide investment advice to other accounts ("Other Accounts"). The Portfolio Managers' management of Other Accounts may give rise to potential conflicts of interest in connection with their management of the Fund's investments, on the one hand, and the investments of the Other Accounts, on the other. A potential conflict of interest may arise when a particular investment may be suitable for both, the Fund and the Other Accounts, whereby the Portfolio Manager could favor one account over another. However, the Adviser has established policies and procedures to ensure that such investments will be allocated between the Fund and the Other Accounts pro rata based on the assets under management or in some other manner determined to be fair and equitable.

A potential conflict of interest may arise as a result of the Portfolio Managers' day-to-day management of the Fund and Other Accounts. The Portfolio Manager knows the size and timing of trades for the Fund and the Other Accounts, and may be able to predict the market impact of the Fund's trades. It is theoretically possible that the Portfolio Manager could use this information to the advantage of Other Accounts they manage and to the possible detriment of the Fund, or vice versa. The Adviser has established a trade rotation policy and procedure to mitigate the risk of this potential conflict.

Compensation. Dr. Hull is not compensated directly by the Fund. Dr. Hull is a principal owner of the Adviser, and therefore draws compensation from its profits. As such, performance and asset levels of the Fund will directly affect the profits of the Adviser and indirectly the total compensation paid to Dr. Hull.

Ms. Dalton is not compensated directly by the Fund. Rather, Ms. Dalton is paid a salary by the Adviser, and therefore draws compensation from the profits of the Advisor with a bonus directly tied to financial performance and asset levels of the Fund . As such, performance and asset levels of the Fund will directly affect the profits of the Adviser and indirectly the total compensation paid to Ms. Dalton.

Ownership of Fund Shares. The table below shows the value of shares of the Fund beneficially owned by the Portfolio Managers of the Fund as of February 28, 2023, stated as one of the following ranges: None; \$1–\$10,000; \$10,001–\$50,000; \$50,001–\$100,000; \$100,001–\$500,000; \$500,001–\$1,000,000; or over \$1,000,000.

Name of Portfolio Manager

Dollar Range of Shares of the Fund

Kristin Hull, PhD Andrea Dalton, CFA over \$1,000,000 \$10,001-\$50,000

PORTFOLIO TRANSACTIONS

Pursuant to the Advisory Agreement, the Adviser determines, subject to the general supervision of the Board and in accordance with the Fund's investment objective, policies and restrictions, which securities are to be purchased and sold by the Fund and which brokers are eligible to execute the Fund's portfolio transactions.

Purchases and sales of portfolio securities that are debt securities usually are principal transactions in which portfolio securities are normally purchased directly from the issuer or from an underwriter or market maker for the securities. Purchases from underwriters of portfolio securities generally include a commission or concession paid by the issuer to the underwriter, and purchases from dealers serving as market makers may include the spread between the bid and asked prices. Transactions on stock exchanges involve the payment of negotiated brokerage commissions. Transactions in the OTC market are generally principal transactions with dealers. With respect to the OTC market, the Fund, where possible, will deal directly with the dealers who make a market in the securities involved except under those circumstances where better price and execution are available elsewhere.

Allocation of transactions, including their frequency, to various brokers and dealers is determined by the Adviser in its best judgement consistent with its obligation to seek best execution and in a manner deemed fair and reasonable to shareholders. The primary consideration is prompt execution of orders in an effective manner at the most favorable price. Other factors that may be considered include, but are not limited to, reputation, financial strength and stability, creditworthiness, efficiency of execution and error resolution, the actual executed price and the commission, research (including economic forecasts, fundamental and technical advice on securities, valuation advice on market analysis); custodial and other services provided for the enhancement of the Adviser's portfolio management capabilities; the size and type of the transaction; the difficulty of execution and the ability to handle difficult trades; and the operational facilities of the brokers and/or dealers involved (including back office efficiency). Subject to these considerations, brokers who provide investment research to the Adviser may receive orders for transactions on behalf of the Fund. Information so received is in addition to and not in lieu of services required to be performed by the Adviser and does not reduce the fees payable to the Adviser by the Fund. Such information may be useful to the Adviser in serving both the Fund and other clients and, conversely, supplemental information obtained by the placement of brokerage orders of other clients may be useful to the Adviser in carrying out its obligations to the Fund In selecting a broker-dealer to execute transactions (or a series of transactions) and determining the reasonableness of the broker-dealer's compensation, the Adviser need not solicit competitive bids and does not have an obligation to seek the lowest available commission cost for the reasons discussed above.

Consistent with the foregoing, under Section 28(e) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the Adviser is authorized to pay a brokerage commission in excess of that which another broker might have charged for effecting the same transaction, in recognition of the value of brokerage and/or research services provided by the broker. The research received by the Adviser may include, without limitation: information on the U.S. and other world economies; information on specific industries, groups of securities, individual companies, political and other relevant news developments affecting markets and specific securities; technical and quantitative information about markets; analysis of proxy proposals affecting specific companies; accounting and performance systems that allow the Adviser to determine and track investment results; and trading systems that allow the Adviser to interface electronically with brokerage firms, custodians and other providers. Research is received in the form of written reports, telephone contacts, personal meetings, research seminars, software programs and access to computer databases. In some instances, research products or services received by the Adviser may also be used by the Adviser for functions that are not research related (i.e., not related to the making of investment

decisions). Where a research product or service has a mixed use, the Adviser will make a reasonable allocation according to its use and will pay for the non-research function in cash using its own funds.

Subject to the requirements of the 1940 Act and procedures adopted by the Board, the Fund may execute portfolio transactions through any broker or dealer and pay brokerage commissions to a broker (i) which is an affiliated person of the Trust, or (ii) which is an affiliated person of such person, or (iii) an affiliated person of which is an affiliated person of the Trust, the Adviser or the Trust's principal underwriter.

The table below shows the brokerage commissions the Fund paid during the last fiscal year/period:

Fiscal Year/Period Ended February 28,	Brokerage Commissions
2023	\$31,310

THE DISTRIBUTOR

The Distributor, Ultimus Fund Distributors, LLC, located at 225 Pictoria Drive, Suite 450, Cincinnati, Ohio 45246, remains the exclusive agent for distribution of shares of the Fund pursuant to a Distribution Agreement (the "Distribution Agreement"). The Distributor is obligated to sell shares of the Fund on a best efforts basis only against purchase orders for the shares. Shares of the Fund are offered to the public on a continuous basis. The Distributor is compensated for its services to the Trust under a written agreement for such services. The Distributor is an affiliate of Ultimus.

By its terms, the Distribution Agreement is for an initial term of two years and will continue in effect year-to-year thereafter so long as such continuance is approved at least annually by (1) the Board or (2) a vote of the majority of the Fund's outstanding voting shares; provided that in either event continuance is also approved by a majority of the Independent Trustees, by a vote cast in person at a meeting called for the purpose of voting on such approval. The Distribution Agreement may be terminated at any time, on sixty days written notice, without payment of any penalty, by the Trust or by the Distributor. The Distribution Agreement automatically terminates in the event of its assignment, as defined by the 1940 Act and the rules thereunder. Under the Distribution Agreement, the Distributor is paid \$10,000 per annum for its services by the Fund and/or the Adviser to the Fund.

OTHER SERVICE PROVIDERS

Administrator, Fund Accountant and Transfer Agent

Ultimus, located at 225 Pictoria Drive, Suite 450, Cincinnati, Ohio 45246, serves as the Administrator, fund accountant (the "Fund Accountant"), and Transfer Agent to the Fund pursuant to a Master Services Agreement (the "Master Services Agreement").

As Administrator, Ultimus assists in supervising all operations of the Fund (other than those performed by the Adviser under the Advisory Agreement). Ultimus has agreed to perform or arrange for the performance of the following services (under the Master Services Agreement, Ultimus may delegate all or any part of its responsibilities thereunder):

• prepares and assembles reports required to be sent to the Fund's shareholders and arranges for the printing and dissemination of such reports;

- assembles reports required to be filed with the SEC and files such completed reports with the SEC;
- files the Fund's federal income and excise tax returns and the Fund's state and local tax returns;
- assists and advises the Fund regarding compliance with the 1940 Act and with its investment policies and limitations; and
- makes such reports and recommendations to the Board as the Board reasonably requests or deems appropriate.

As Fund Accountant, Ultimus maintains the accounting books and records for the Fund, including journals containing an itemized daily record of all purchases and sales of portfolio securities, all receipts and disbursements of cash and all other debits and credits, general and auxiliary ledgers reflecting all asset, liability, reserve, capital, income and expense accounts, including interest accrued and interest received, and other required separate ledger accounts. Ultimus also maintains a monthly trial balance of all ledger accounts; performs certain accounting services for the Fund, including calculation of the NAV per share, calculation of the dividend and capital gain distributions, reconciles cash movements with the custodian, verifies and reconciles with the custodian all daily trade activities; provides certain reports; obtains dealer quotations or prices from pricing services used in determining NAV; and prepares an interim balance sheet, statement of income and expense, and statement of changes in net assets for the Fund.

As Transfer Agent, Ultimus performs the following services in connection with the Fund's shareholders: maintains records for the Fund's shareholders of record; processes shareholder purchase and redemption orders; processes transfers and exchanges of shares of the Fund on the shareholder files and records; processes dividend payments and reinvestments; and assists in the mailing of shareholder reports and proxy solicitation materials.

Ultimus receives fees from the Fund for its services as Administrator, Fund Accountant and Transfer Agent, and is reimbursed for certain expenses assumed pursuant to the Master Services Agreement.

The Master Services Agreement between the Trust, on behalf of the Fund, and Ultimus, unless otherwise terminated as provided in the Master Services Agreement, is renewed automatically for successive one-year periods.

The Master Services Agreement provides that Ultimus shall not be liable for any error of judgment or mistake of law or any loss suffered by the Trust in connection with the matters to which the Master Services Agreement relates, except a loss from willful misfeasance, bad faith or gross negligence in the performance of its duties, or from the reckless disregard by Ultimus of its obligations and duties thereunder.

During the fiscal year/periods listed below, Ultimus received the following fees from the Fund for its services as Administrator, Fund Accountant, and Transfer Agent:

Fiscal Year/Period Ended February 28,	Administration	Fund Accounting	Transfer Agent
2023	\$31,731	\$20,214	\$26,992

Custodian

U.S. Bank, N.A. (the "Custodian"), located at 425 Walnut Street, Cincinnati, Ohio 45202, serves as custodian to the Fund pursuant to a Custody Agreement. The Custodian's responsibilities include

safeguarding and controlling the Fund's cash and securities, handling the receipt and delivery of securities, and collecting interest and dividends on the Fund's investments.

Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Cohen & Company, Ltd., located at 1350 Euclid Avenue, Suite 800, Cleveland, Ohio 44115, serves as the independent registered public accounting firm for the Fund and audited the financial statements of the Fund for the fiscal period ending February 28, 2023, and assisted in preparing the Fund's federal, state, and excise tax returns for the fiscal period ending February 28, 2023.

Legal Counsel

Sullivan & Worcester, LLP, located at 1666 K Street, NW, Suite 700, Washington, DC 20006 serves as legal counsel to the Trust and the Trust's Independent Trustees.

Compliance Consulting Agreement

Under the terms of a Compliance Consulting Agreement with the Trust, Ultimus provides an individual with the requisite background and familiarity with the federal securities laws to serve as the Trust's CCO and to administer the Trust's compliance policies and procedures. For these services, the Fund pays Ultimus a base fee of per annum, plus an asset-based fee computed at an annual rate. The Fund paid Ultimus \$12,137 for compliance services for the fiscal period ended February 28, 2023.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Other Payments by the Fund. The Fund may enter into agreements with financial intermediaries pursuant to which the Fund may pay financial intermediaries for non-distribution-related sub-transfer agency, administrative, sub-accounting, and other shareholder services. Payments made pursuant to such agreements are generally based on either (1) a percentage of the average daily net assets of Fund shareholders serviced by a financial intermediary, or (2) the number of Fund shareholders serviced by a financial intermediary. Any payments made pursuant to such agreements may be in addition to, rather than in lieu of, distribution fees the Fund may pay to financial intermediaries pursuant to the Fund's distribution plan, if any.

Other Payments by the Adviser. The Adviser, in its discretion, may make payments from its own resources and not from Fund assets to affiliated or unaffiliated brokers, dealers, banks (including bank trust departments), trust companies, registered investment advisers, financial planners, retirement plan administrators, insurance companies, and any other institution having a service, administration, or any similar arrangement with the Fund, its service providers or their respective affiliates, as incentives to help market and promote the Fund and/or in recognition of its distribution, marketing, administrative services, and/or processing support.

These additional payments may be made to financial intermediaries that sell Fund shares or provide services to the Fund, the Distributor or shareholders of the Fund through the financial intermediary's retail distribution channel and/or fund supermarkets. Payments may also be made through the financial intermediary's retirement, qualified tuition, fee-based advisory, wrap fee bank trust, or insurance (e.g., individual or group annuity) programs. These payments may include, but are not limited to, placing the Fund in a financial intermediary's retail distribution channel or on a preferred or recommended fund list; providing business or shareholder financial planning assistance; educating financial intermediary personnel about the Fund; providing access to sales and management representatives of the financial intermediary; promoting sales of Fund shares; providing marketing and educational support; maintaining

share balances and/or for sub-accounting, administrative or shareholder transaction processing services. A financial intermediary may perform the services itself or may arrange with a third party to perform the services.

The Adviser may also make payments from its own resources to financial intermediaries for costs associated with the purchase of products or services used in connection with sales and marketing, participation in and/or presentation at conferences or seminars, sales or training programs, client and investor entertainment and other sponsored events. The costs and expenses associated with these efforts may include travel, lodging, sponsorship at educational seminars and conferences, entertainment and meals to the extent permitted by law.

Revenue sharing payments may be negotiated based on a variety of factors, including the level of sales, the amount of Fund assets attributable to investments in the Fund by financial intermediaries' customers, a flat fee or other measures as determined from time to time by the Adviser. A significant purpose of these payments is to increase the sales of Fund shares, which in turn may benefit the Adviser through increased fees as Fund assets grow.

Investors should understand that some financial intermediaries may also charge their clients fees in connection with purchases of shares or the provision of shareholder services.

Description of Shares

The Trust is an unincorporated business trust organized under Ohio law on February 28, 2012. The Declaration of Trust authorizes the Board to divide shares into series, each series relating to a separate portfolio of investments, and to further divide shares of a series into separate classes. The Fund does not currently issue additional classes of shares. Additional classes may be created at any time. In the event of a liquidation or dissolution of the Trust or an individual series or class, shareholders of a particular series or class would be entitled to receive the assets available for distribution belonging to such series or class. Shareholders of a series or class are entitled to participate equally in the net distributable assets of the particular series or class involved on liquidation, based on the number of shares of the series or class that are held by each shareholder. If any assets, income, earnings, proceeds, funds or payments are not readily identifiable as belonging to any particular series or class, the Board shall allocate them among any one or more series or classes as the Board, in its sole discretion, deems fair and equitable. Subject to the Declaration of Trust, determinations by the Board as to the allocation of liabilities, and the allocable portion of any general assets, with respect to the Fund and each class of the Fund is conclusive.

Shares of the Fund, when issued, are fully paid and non-assessable. Shares have no subscription, preemptive or conversion rights. Shares do not have cumulative voting rights. Shareholders are entitled to one vote for each full share held and a fractional vote for each fractional share held. Shareholders of all series and classes of the Trust, including the Fund, will vote together and not separately, except as otherwise required by law or when the Board determines that the matter to be voted upon affects only the interests of the shareholders of a particular series or class. Rule 18f-2 under the 1940 Act provides, in substance, that any matter required to be submitted to the holders of the outstanding voting securities of an investment company such as the Trust shall not be deemed to have been effectively acted upon unless approved by the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of each series or class affected by the matter. A series or class is affected by a matter unless it is clear that the interests of each series or class in the matter are substantially identical or that the matter does not affect any interest of the series or class. Under Rule 18f-2, the approval of an investment advisory agreement, a distribution plan or any change in a fundamental investment policy would be effectively acted upon with respect to a series or class only if approved by a majority of the outstanding shares of such series or class. However, the Rule also provides that the

ratification of the appointment of independent accountants and the election of Trustees may be effectively acted upon by shareholders of the Trust voting together, without regard to a particular series or class.

Trustee Liability

The Declaration of Trust provides that the Trustees will not be liable in any event in connection with the affairs of the Trust, except as such liability may arise from his or her own bad faith, willful misfeasance, gross negligence or reckless disregard of their duties to the Trust and its holders of beneficial interest. It also provides that all third parties shall look solely to the Trust's property for satisfaction of claims arising in connection with the affairs of the Trust. With the exceptions stated, the Declaration of Trust provides that a Trustee or officer is entitled to be indemnified against all liability in connection with the affairs of the Trust.

Trust Liability

Under Ohio law, liabilities of the Trust to third persons, including the liabilities of any series, extend to the whole of the trust estate to the extent necessary to discharge such liabilities. However, the Declaration of Trust contains provisions intended to limit the liabilities of each series to the applicable series and the Trustees and officers of the Trust intend that notice of such limitation be given in each contract, instrument, certificate, or undertaking made or issued on behalf of the Trust by the Trustees or officers. There is no guarantee that the foregoing steps will prove effective or that the Trust will be successful in preventing the assets of one series from being available to creditors of another series.

Code of Ethics

The Trust, the Adviser and the Distributor have each adopted a code of ethics (each, a "COE" and collectively, the "COEs") that is designed to prevent their respective personnel subject to the COEs from engaging in deceptive, manipulative, or fraudulent activities in connection with securities held or to be acquired by the Fund (which securities may also be held by persons subject to the COEs). These COEs permit personnel subject to the COEs to invest in securities, including securities that may be purchased or held by the Fund, but prohibit such personnel from engaging in personal investment activities which compete with or attempt to take advantage of the Fund's planned portfolio transactions. Each of these parties monitors compliance with its respective COE.

Anti-Money Laundering Program

The Trust has adopted an anti-money laundering ("AML") program, as required by applicable law, that is designed to prevent the Fund from being used for money laundering or the financing of terrorist activities. The Trust's AML Compliance Officer is responsible for implementing and monitoring the operations and internal controls of the program. Compliance officers at certain of the Fund's service providers are also responsible for monitoring aspects of the AML program. The AML program is subject to the continuing oversight of the Board.

Proxy Voting Policies and Procedures

The Trust and the Adviser have adopted Proxy Voting Policies and Procedures that describe how the Fund intends to vote proxies relating to portfolio securities. The Proxy Voting Policies and Procedures of the Trust and the Adviser are attached to this SAI as Appendix B and Appendix C, respectively. No later than August 31st of each year, information regarding how the Fund voted proxies relating to portfolio securities during the prior twelve-month period ended June 30th is available without charge upon request by calling 833-571-2833, or on the SEC's website at www.sec.gov.

Portfolio Holdings Disclosure Policy

The Board has adopted policies with respect to the disclosure of the Fund's portfolio holdings. These policies generally prohibit the disclosure of information about the Fund's portfolio to third parties prior to (i) the filing of the information with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") in a required filing, or (ii) the day after the information is posted to the Fund's website. The Fund is required to include a schedule of portfolio holdings in its annual and semi-annual reports to shareholders, which are sent to shareholders within 60 days of the end of the second and fourth fiscal quarters and filed with the SEC on Form N-CSR within 70 days of the end of the second and fourth fiscal quarters. The Fund is also required to file a schedule of portfolio holdings with the SEC on Form N-PORT within 60 days of the end of the first and third fiscal quarters. The Fund must provide a copy of the complete schedule of portfolio holdings as filed with the SEC to any shareholder of the Fund, upon request, free of charge.

As described below, the policies allow for disclosure of non-public portfolio information to third parties if the following criteria are met, as determined by the Trust's Chief Compliance Officer (the "CCO"): (1) there is a legitimate business purpose for the disclosure; (2) the party receiving the portfolio holdings information is subject to a one or more Conditions of Confidentiality (as defined below); and (3) disclosure is consistent with the antifraud provisions of the federal securities laws and, with respect to disclosure made or directed to be made by the Adviser, the Adviser's fiduciary duties. "Conditions of Confidentiality" include (1) confidentiality clauses in written agreements, (2) confidentiality implied by the nature of the relationship (e.g., attorney-client relationship), or (3) confidentiality required by fiduciary or regulatory principles (e.g., custody relationships).

Under the policies, the Trust, the Fund, the Adviser and any service provider to the Trust are prohibited from receiving compensation or other consideration in connection with disclosing information about the Fund's portfolio to third parties.

Consistent with these policies, the Fund may include in marketing literature and other communications to shareholders or other parties a full schedule of portfolio holdings, top ten portfolio positions and certain other portfolio characteristics (such as sector or geographic weightings) that have already been made public through the Fund's website or through an SEC filing, provided that, in the case of portfolio information made public solely through the Fund's website, the information is disclosed no earlier than the day after the date of posting to the website.

The Fund releases non-public portfolio holdings information to certain third-party service providers on a daily basis in order for those parties to perform their duties on behalf of the Fund. These service providers include the Adviser, Distributor, Transfer Agent, fund accounting agent, administrator and Custodian. The Fund also periodically discloses portfolio holdings information on a confidential basis to other third parties that provide services to the Fund, such as the Fund's auditors, legal counsel, proxy voting services (if applicable), printers, brokers and pricing services. The lag between the date of the information and the date on which the information is disclosed will vary based on the nature of the services provided by the party to whom the information is disclosed. For example, the information may be provided to the Fund's auditors within days after the end of the Fund's fiscal year in connection with the Fund's annual audit, while the information may be given to legal counsel or prospective third-party service providers without any time lag.

Below is a table that lists the service provider that currently receive non-public portfolio information along with information regarding the frequency of access to, and limitations on use of, portfolio information.

Type of Service Provider	Typical Frequency of Access to Portfolio Information	Restrictions on Use
Adviser	Daily	Contractual and Ethical
Administrator and Distributor	Daily	Contractual and Ethical
Custodian	Daily	Ethical
Accountants	During annual audit	Ethical
Legal counsel	Regulatory filings, board meetings, and if a legal issue regarding the portfolio requires counsel's review	Ethical
Printers/Typesetters	Twice a year – printing of Semi-Annual and Annual Reports	No formal restrictions in place – typesetter or printer would not receive portfolio information until at least 30 days old
Broker/dealers through which the Fund purchases and sells portfolio securities	Daily access to the relevant purchase and/or sale — no broker/dealer has access to the Fund's entire portfolio	Contractual and Ethical
N-PORT and N-CEN Vendors	Monthly or Annually	Contractual and Ethical
Pricing and Liquidity Vendors	Daily	Contractual and Ethical

The Fund may enter into ongoing arrangements to release portfolio holdings to Morningstar, Inc., Lipper, Inc., Bloomberg, Standard & Poor's, Thompson Financial and Vickers-Stock ("Rating Agencies") in order for those organizations to assign a rating or ranking to the Fund. In these instances, information about the Fund's portfolio would generally be supplied within approximately 25 days after the end of the month. The Rating Agencies may make the Fund's top portfolio holdings and other portfolio characteristics available on their websites and may make the Fund's complete portfolio holdings available to their subscribers for a fee. Neither the Fund, the Adviser, a sub-adviser, nor any of their affiliates receive any portion of this fee.

Upon approval of the CCO, the Fund may also disclose portfolio information pursuant to regulatory request, court order or other legal proceeding.

Except as described above, the Fund is prohibited from entering into any arrangements with any person to make available information about the Fund's portfolio holdings without the prior authorization of the CCO. The Adviser must submit any proposed arrangement pursuant to which it intends to disclose the Fund's portfolio holdings to the CCO, who will review such arrangement to determine whether the arrangement is in the best interests of Fund shareholders. To the extent that the disclosure of the Fund's portfolio holdings information creates a conflict between the Fund, on the one hand, and the Fund's adviser, principal underwriter, and any other affiliated person of the Fund, its investment adviser, or its principal underwriter on the other hand, the CCO shall determine how to resolve the conflict in the best interests of the Fund, and shall report such determination to the Board at the end of the quarter in which such determination was made.

To oversee the Disclosure Policy and the Fund Policy, the Trustees consider reports and recommendations by the CCO regarding the adequacy and implementation of the compliance programs of the Trust and its

service procedures adopted pursuant to Rule 38a-1 under the 1940 Act. The Trustees reserve the right to amend the Disclosure Policy at any time without prior notice to shareholders in its sole discretion.

Other Expenses

In addition to the Management Fee, the Fund pays all expenses associated with the Fund not expressly assumed by the Adviser, including, without limitation, the fees and expenses of its independent registered public accounting firm and of its legal counsel; the fees of the Administrator, Distributor and Transfer Agent, the costs of printing and mailing to shareholders annual and semi-annual reports, proxy statements, prospectuses, SAIs and supplements thereto; bank transaction charges and custody fees; any costs associated with shareholder meetings, including proxy solicitors' fees and expenses; registration and filing fees; federal, state or local income or other taxes; interest; membership fees of the Investment Company Institute and similar organizations; fidelity bond and liability insurance premiums; and any extraordinary expenses, such as indemnification payments or damages awarded in litigation or settlements made.

Benchmark Descriptions

The Fund compares its performance to standardized indices or other measurements of investment performance. Specifically, the Fund compares its performance to the MSCI ACWI IMI Index, which, captures large, mid and small cap representation across 23 Developed Markets and 25 Emerging Markets countries. With 9,309 constituents, the index is comprehensive, covering approximately 99% of the global equity investment opportunity set.

ADDITIONAL TAX INFORMATION

The following summarizes certain additional tax considerations generally affecting the Fund and its shareholders that are not described in the Prospectus. No attempt is made to present a detailed explanation of the tax treatment of the Fund or its shareholders. The discussions here and in the Prospectus are not intended as a substitute for careful tax planning and are based on tax laws and regulations that are in effect on the date hereof; such laws and regulations may be changed by legislative, judicial, or administrative action. Investors are advised to consult their tax advisors with specific reference to their own tax situations.

Qualification as a Regulated Investment Company

The Fund has qualified and intends to continue to qualify as a regulated investment company under Subchapter M of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"). In order to so qualify, the Fund must elect to be a regulated investment company or have made such an election for a previous year and must satisfy certain requirements relating to the amount of distributions and source of its income for a taxable year. At least 90% of the gross income of the Fund must be derived from dividends, interest, payments with respect to securities loans, gains from the sale or other disposition of stocks, securities, or foreign currencies, and other income derived with respect to the Fund's business of investing in such stock, securities, or currencies, and net income derived from an investment in a "qualified publicly traded partnership" as defined in section 851(h) of the Code (the "source-of-income test"). Any income derived by the Fund from a partnership (other than a "qualified publicly traded partnership") or trust is treated as derived with respect to the Fund's business of investing in stock, securities, or currencies only to the extent that such income is attributable to items of income that would have been qualifying income if realized by the Fund in the same manner as by the partnership or trust.

The Fund may not qualify as a regulated investment company for any taxable year unless it satisfies certain requirements with respect to the diversification of its investments at the close of each quarter of the taxable year (the "asset diversification tests"). In general, at least 50% of the value of the Fund's total assets must be represented by cash, cash items, government securities, securities of other regulated investment companies, and other securities which, with respect to any one issuer, do not represent more than 5% of the total assets of the Fund nor more than 10% of the outstanding voting securities of such issuer. In addition, not more than 25% of the value of the Fund's total assets may be invested in the securities (other than government securities or the securities of other regulated investment companies) of any one issuer; the securities of two or more issuers (other than securities of another regulated investment company) if the issuers are controlled by the Fund and they are, pursuant to Treasury Regulations, engaged in the same or similar or related trades or businesses; or the securities of one or more "qualified publicly traded partnerships".

The Fund intends to satisfy all of the requirements of the source-of-income test and the asset diversification tests on an ongoing basis for continued qualification as a regulated investment company.

If the Fund fails to meet either the asset diversification test with respect to a taxable quarter or the source-of-income test with respect to a taxable year, the Code provides several remedies, provided certain procedural requirements are met, which will allow the Fund to retain its status as a "regulated investment company." There is a remedy for failure to satisfy the asset diversification tests, if the failure was due to reasonable cause and not willful neglect, subject to certain divestiture and procedural requirements and the payment of a tax. In addition, there is a remedy for a de minimis failure of the asset diversification tests, which would require corrective action but no tax. In addition, the Code allows for the remedy of a failure of the source-of-income test, if the failure was due to reasonable cause and not willful neglect, subject to certain procedural requirements and the payment of a tax.

If for any taxable year the Fund does not qualify for the special federal income tax treatment afforded regulated investment companies, all of its taxable income will be subject to federal income tax at regular corporate rates (without any deduction for distributions to its shareholders). Such distributions will be taxable to the shareholders as dividends to the extent of the Fund's current and accumulated earnings and profits. Such distributions may be eligible for (i) the dividends-received deduction ("DRD") in the case of corporate shareholders or (ii) treatment as "qualified dividend income" in the case of noncorporate shareholders, provided in each case that certain holding period and other requirements are met. Failure to qualify as a regulated investment company would have a negative impact on the Fund's income and performance. It is possible that the Fund will not qualify as a regulated investment company in any given tax year.

Fund Distributions

The Fund anticipates distributing substantially all of its investment company taxable income and net tax-exempt interest (if any) for each tax year. Distributions paid to you generally may be characterized as ordinary income. A portion of these distributions may qualify for the DRD when paid to certain corporate shareholders.

Under current tax law, qualifying corporate dividends are taxable at long-term capital gains tax rates. The long-term capital gains rate for individual taxpayers is currently at a maximum rate of 20%, with lower rates potentially applicable to taxpayers depending on their income levels.

Taxable dividends paid by the Fund to corporate shareholders will be taxed at corporate income tax rates. Corporate shareholders may be entitled to a DRD for a portion of the dividends paid and designated by the Fund as qualifying for the DRD.

If the Fund designates a dividend as a capital gains distribution, it generally will be taxable to shareholders as long-term capital gains, regardless of how long the shareholders have held their Fund shares or whether the dividend was received in cash or reinvested in additional shares. All taxable dividends paid by the Fund other than those designated as qualified dividend income or capital gains distributions will be taxable as ordinary income to shareholders, whether received in cash or reinvested in additional shares. To the extent the Fund engages in increased portfolio turnover, short-term capital gains may be realized, and any distribution resulting from such gains will be considered ordinary income for federal tax purposes.

Certain U.S. shareholders, including individuals and estates and trusts, will be subject to an additional 3.8% Medicare tax on all or a portion of their "net investment income," which should include dividends from the Fund and net gains from the disposition of shares of the Fund. U.S. shareholders are urged to consult their own tax advisors regarding the implications of the additional Medicare tax resulting from an investment in the Fund.

Individuals (and certain other non-corporate entities) are generally eligible for a 20% deduction with respect to taxable ordinary dividends from REITs and certain taxable income from publicly traded partnerships. Regulated investment companies that receive qualified REIT dividend income may designate such amounts as Section 199A dividends. Qualified REIT dividend income is the excess of qualified REIT dividends received by the regulated investment company over the amount of the regulated investment company's deductions that are properly allocable to such income. If the Fund designates a dividend as a Section 199A distribution, it may be treated by shareholders as a qualified REIT dividend that is taxed as ordinary income and for non-corporate taxpayers eligible for the 20% deduction for "qualified business income" under Code section 199A. Generally, only non-corporate shareholders who have held their shares for more than 45 days during the 91-day period beginning on the date which is 45 days prior to the exdividend date for such dividend are eligible for such treatment.

Shareholders who hold Fund shares in a tax-deferred account, such as a retirement plan, generally will not have to pay tax on Fund distributions until they receive distributions from their account.

The Fund will designate (1) any distribution that constitutes a qualified dividend as qualified dividend income; (2) any tax-exempt distribution as an exempt-interest dividend; (3) any distribution of long-term capital gains as a capital gain dividend; (4) any dividend eligible for the corporate dividends received deduction; and (5) any distribution that is comprised of qualified REIT dividend income as a Section 199A dividend as such in a written notice provided to shareholders after the close of the Fund's taxable year. Shareholders should note that, upon the sale or exchange of Fund shares, if the shareholder has not held such shares for at least six months, any loss on the sale or exchange of those shares will be treated as long-term capital loss to the extent of the capital gain dividends received with respect to the shares.

The Fund will send shareholders information each year on the tax status of dividends and distributions. A dividend or capital gains distribution paid shortly after shares have been purchased, although in effect a return of investment, is subject to federal income taxation. Dividends from net investment income, along with capital gains, will be taxable to shareholders, whether received in cash or reinvested in Fund shares and no matter how long the shareholder has held Fund shares, even if they reduce the NAV of shares below the shareholder's cost, and thus, in effect, result in a return of a part of the shareholder's investment.

To the extent that a distribution from the Fund is taxable, it is generally included in a shareholder's gross income for the taxable year in which the shareholder receives the distribution. However, if the Fund declares a dividend in October, November, or December but pays it in January, it will be taxable to

shareholders as if the dividend was received in the year it was declared. Each year, shareholders will receive a statement detailing the tax status of any Fund distributions for that year.

The Fund's net realized capital gains from securities transactions will be distributed only after reducing such gains by the amount of any available capital loss carryforwards. Capital losses may be carried forward to offset any capital gains.

Excise Tax

A 4% nondeductible excise tax is imposed on regulated investment companies that fail to currently distribute an amount equal to specified percentages of their ordinary taxable income and capital gain net income (excess of capital gains over capital losses). The Fund intends to make sufficient distributions or deemed distributions of its ordinary taxable income and any capital gain net income prior to the end of each calendar year to avoid liability for this excise tax. Investors should note, however, that the Fund might in certain circumstances be required to liquidate portfolio investments to make sufficient distributions to avoid the imposition of any excise tax liability.

Sale, Exchange, or Repurchase of Shares

In general, a shareholder who sells or redeems shares will realize a capital gain or loss, which will be long-term or short-term depending upon the shareholder's holding period for Fund shares. An exchange of shares is treated as a sale and any gain may be subject to tax. An exchange of shares is generally treated as a sale and any gain may be subject to tax. All or a portion of any loss so recognized may be disallowed if you purchase (for example, by reinvesting dividends) shares of the same Fund within 30 days before or after the sale, exchange or repurchase (a "wash sale"). If disallowed, the loss will be reflected in an upward adjustment to the basis of the shares purchased.

Shareholders should note that, upon the sale of Fund shares, if the shareholder has not held such shares for at least six months, any loss on the sale or exchange of those shares will be treated as a long-term capital loss to the extent of the capital gains dividends received with respect to the shares. Any capital loss arising from the sale, exchange or repurchase of shares held for six months or less, however, will be treated as a long-term capital loss to the extent of the amount of distributions of net capital gain received on such shares. In determining the holding period of such shares for this purpose, any period during which your risk of loss is offset by means of options, short sales or similar transactions is not counted. Capital losses in any tax year are deductible only to the extent of capital gains plus, in the case of a non-corporate taxpayer, \$3,000 of ordinary income.

The repurchase or transfer of shares may result in a taxable gain or loss to a tendering shareholder. Different tax consequences may apply for tendering and non-tendering shareholder in connection with a repurchase offer. For example, if a shareholder does not tender all of his or her shares, such repurchase may not be treated as a sale or exchange for U.S. federal income tax purposes, and may result in deemed distributions to non-tendering shareholder. On the other hand, shareholder holding shares as capital assets who tender all of their shares (including shares deemed owned by shareholders under constructive ownership rules) will be treated as having sold their shares and generally will recognize capital gain or loss. The amount of the gain or loss will be equal to the difference between the amount received for the shares and the shareholder adjusted tax basis in the relevant shares. Such gain or loss generally will be a long-term capital gain or loss if the shareholder has held such shares as capital assets for more than one year. Otherwise, the gain or loss will be treated as short-term capital gain or loss.

Backup Withholding

The Fund will be required in certain cases to withhold and remit to the U.S. Treasury a percentage (currently 24%) of taxable dividends or of gross proceeds realized upon sale paid to shareholders who have failed to provide a correct taxpayer identification number in the manner required, who are subject to withholding by the Internal Revenue Service for failure to include properly on their return payments of taxable interest or dividends, or who have failed to certify to the Fund that they are not subject to backup withholding when required to do so, or that they are "exempt recipients."

Foreign Taxes

Dividends and interest received by a Fund may be subject to income, withholding or other taxes imposed by foreign countries and U.S. possessions that would reduce the yield on the Fund's stock or securities. Tax conventions between certain countries and the U.S. may reduce or eliminate these taxes. Foreign countries generally do not impose taxes on capital gains with respect to investments by foreign investors. If more than 50% of the value of a Fund's total assets at the close of its taxable year consists of stocks or securities of foreign corporations, the Fund will be eligible to file an election with the IRS that may enable shareholders, in effect, to receive either the benefit of a foreign tax credit, or a deduction from such taxes, with respect to any foreign and U.S. possessions income taxes paid by the Fund, subject to certain limitations. Pursuant to the election, such Fund will treat those taxes as dividends paid to its shareholders. Each such shareholder will be required to include a proportionate share of those taxes in gross income as income received from a foreign source and must treat the amount so included as if the shareholder had paid the foreign tax directly. The shareholder may then either deduct the taxes deemed paid by him or her in computing his or her taxable income or, alternatively, use the foregoing information in calculating any foreign tax credit they may be entitled to use against the shareholders' federal income tax. If a Fund makes the election, such Fund (or its administrative agent) will report annually to its shareholders the respective amounts per share of the Fund's income from sources within, and taxes paid to, foreign countries and U.S. possessions. If a Fund does not hold sufficient foreign securities to meet the above threshold, then shareholders will not be entitled to claim a credit or further deduction with respect to foreign taxes paid by such Fund.

A shareholder's ability to claim a foreign tax credit or deduction in respect of foreign taxes paid by a Fund may be subject to certain limitations imposed by the Code, which may result in a shareholder not receiving a full credit or deduction (if any) for the amount of such taxes. In particular, shareholders must hold their Fund shares (without protection from risk of loss) on the ex-dividend date and for at least 15 additional days during the 30-day period surrounding the ex-dividend date to be eligible to claim a foreign tax credit with respect to a given dividend. Shareholders who do not itemize on their federal income tax returns may claim a credit (but no deduction) for such foreign taxes. Even if a Fund were eligible to make such an election for a given year, it may determine not to do so. Shareholders that are not subject to U.S. federal income tax, and those who invest in a Fund through tax-advantaged accounts (including those who invest through individual retirement accounts or other tax-advantaged retirement plans), generally will receive no benefit from any tax credit or deduction passed through by a Fund.

State and Local Taxes

Depending upon the extent of the Fund's activities in states and localities in which its offices are maintained, in which its agents or independent contractors are located, or in which it is otherwise deemed to be conducting business, the Fund may be subject to the tax laws of such states or localities. In addition, in those states and localities that have income tax laws, the treatment of the Fund and its shareholders under such laws may differ from their treatment under federal income tax laws.

Foreign Shareholders

The foregoing discussion relates only to U.S. federal income tax law as applicable to U.S. shareholders (i.e., U.S. citizens and residents and U.S. domestic corporations, partnerships, trusts and estates). Non-U.S. shareholders who are not U.S. persons should consult their tax advisers regarding U.S. and foreign tax consequences of ownership of shares of the Fund including the likelihood that taxable distributions to them (including any deemed distributions with respect to a repurchase offer) would be subject to withholding of U.S. tax at a rate of 30% (or a lower treaty rate for eligible investors).

Dividends paid by the Fund to non-U.S. shareholders may be subject to U.S. withholding tax at the rate of 30% unless reduced by treaty (and the shareholder files a valid Internal Revenue Service Form W-8BEN, or other applicable form, with the Funds certifying foreign status and treaty eligibility) or the non-U.S. shareholder files an Internal Revenue Service Form W-8ECI, or other applicable form, with the Fund certifying that the investment to which the distribution relates is effectively connected to a United States trade or business of such non-U.S. shareholder (and, if certain tax treaties apply, is attributable to a United States permanent establishment maintained by such non-U.S. shareholder). The Fund may elect not to withhold the applicable withholding tax on any distribution representing a capital gains dividend to a non-U.S. shareholder.

Under sections 1471 through 1474 of the Code, known as "FATCA", the Fund is required to withhold U.S. tax at a rate of 30% on payments of taxable dividends and to certain non-U.S. entities that fail to comply (or be deemed compliant) with the extensive reporting and withholding requirements under FATCA designed to inform the U.S. Treasury of certain U.S. owned foreign assets and accounts. Shareholders may be requested to provide additional information to the Fund to enable it to determine whether FATCA withholding is required. The Fund will disclose the information that it receives from (or concerning) its shareholders to the IRS, non-U.S. taxing authorities or other parties as necessary to comply with FATCA, related intergovernmental agreements or other applicable law or regulation. Each prospective investor is urged to consult its tax adviser regarding the applicability of FATCA and any other reporting requirements with respect to the prospective investor's own situation, including investments through an intermediary.

Tax Shelter Reporting Regulations.

Under U.S. Treasury regulations, generally, if a shareholder recognizes a loss of \$2 million or more for an individual shareholder or \$10 million or more for a corporate shareholder, the shareholder must file with the IRS a disclosure statement on Form 8886. Direct shareholders of portfolio securities are in many cases excepted from this reporting requirement, but under current guidance, shareholders of a regulated investment company such as the Fund are not excepted. Future guidance may extend the current exception from this reporting requirement to shareholders of most or all regulated investment companies. The fact that a loss is reportable under these regulations does not affect the legal determination of whether the taxpayer's treatment of the loss is proper. Shareholders should consult their tax advisors to determine the applicability of these regulations in light of their individual circumstances.

Cost Basis Reporting

Mutual funds are required to report to the IRS and furnish to fund shareholders the cost basis information for fund shares purchased and/or sold on or after January 1, 2012. In addition to the requirement to report the gross proceeds from the sale of Fund shares, the Fund is also required to report the cost basis information for such shares and indicate whether these shares had a short-term or long-term holding period. In the absence of an election by a shareholder to elect from available IRS accepted cost basis methods, the Fund will use a default cost basis method. The cost basis method elected or applied may not be changed

after the settlement date of a sale of Fund shares. Fund shareholders should consult with their tax advisers concerning the most desirable IRS-accepted cost basis method for their tax situation and to obtain more information about how the new cost basis reporting law applies to them.

Prospective investors should consult with their own tax advisors regarding the application of these provisions to their situation.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Fund's audited financial statements for the fiscal period ended February 28, 2023, including the Financial Highlights appearing in the Prospectus, are incorporated by reference and made a part hereof. You may request a copy of the Fund's Annual and Semi-Annual Reports to shareholders, once available, at no charge by calling the Fund at 833-571-2833 or by visiting the Fund's website at NIAIMPACTFUNDS.COM.

APPENDIX A TRUSTEES AND OFFICERS

Name and Year of Birth	Length of Time Served	Position(s) held with Trust	Principal Occupation(s) During Past 5 Years	Number of Funds in the Trust Overseen By Trustee	Directorship(s) of Public Companies Held By Trustee During Past 5 Years		
Interested Trustees:	T				T		
David K. James*^ Year of Birth: 1970	April 2023 to present October 2022 to April 2023 July 2021 to October 2022	Trustee (April 2023 to present) Assistant Secretary Secretary	Executive Vice President and Chief Legal and Risk Officer of Ultimus Fund Solutions, LLC ("Ultimus") and a member of the board of managers of Ultimus Fund Distributors, LLC, Northern Lights Distributors, LLC and Northern Lights Compliance Services, LLC, each an affiliate of Ultimus (2018 to present); Managing Director and Managing Counsel of State Street Bank and Trust	33	Interested Trustee of 12 series of the Capitol Series Trust (a registered management company) (2021 to present)		
Independent Trustees: Company (2009 to 2018)							
Janine L. Cohen^ Year of Birth: 1952	Since 2016	Chairperson (2019 to present)	Retired since 2013; previously Chief Financial Officer from 2004 to 2013 and Chief	33	n/a		
		Trustee (2016 to present)	Compliance Officer from 2008 to 2013 at AER Advisors, Inc.				
David M. Deptula [^] Year of Birth: 1958	Since 2012	Trustee (2012 to present)	Vice President of Legal and Special Projects at Dayton Freight Lines, Inc. since 2016	33	n/a		
Robert E. Morrison^ Year of Birth: 1957	Since 2019	Trustee (2019 to present; and previously 2012 to 2012)	Managing Director at Midwest Trust and FCI Advisors (2022 to present); Senior Vice President and National Practice Lead for Investment, Huntington National Bank/Huntington Private Bank (2014 to 2022); CEO, CIO, President of 5 Star Investment Management Company (2006 to 2014)	33	n/a		
Clifford N. Schireson^ Year of Birth: 1953	Since 2019	Trustee (2019 to present)	Retired; Founder of Schireson Consulting, LLC (2017 to 2022); Director of Institutional Services for Brandes Investment Partners, LP (2004 to 2017)	33	Trustee of the San Diego City Employees' Retirement System (2019 to present)		
Jacqueline A. Williams^ Year of Birth: 1954	Since 2019	Trustee (2019 to present)	Managing Member of Custom Strategy Consulting, LLC (2017 to present); Managing Director of Global Investment Research (2005 to 2017), Cambridge Associates, LLC	33	n/a		

[^] Address is 225 Pictoria Drive, Suite 450, Cincinnati, Ohio 45246

	Length of Time	Position(s) held with	
Name and Year of Birth	Served	Trust	Principal Occupation(s) During Past 5 Years
Todd E. Heim^	2021 to present	President	Vice President, Relationship Management (2018 to present) and
Year of Birth: 1967	_		Assistant Vice President, Client Implementation Manager with
	2014 to 2021	Vice President	Ultimus Fund Solutions, LLC (2014 to 2018)
Shannon Thibeaux-Burgess	April 2023 to	Vice President	Senior Vice President, Relationship Management with Ultimus
Year of Birth: 1970	present		Fund Solutions, LLC (2022 to present); Head of Regulatory Service
			with J.P. Morgan Chase & Co. (2020 to 2022); Chief
			Administrative Officer of State Street Bank (2013 to 2020)
Jennifer L. Leamer^	2014 to present	Treasurer	Senior Vice President of Fund Accounting (2020 to present) and
Year of Birth: 1976			Mutual Fund Controller of Ultimus Fund Solutions, LLC (2014 to
	April 2014 to	Assistant Treasurer	2020)
	October 2014		
Daniel D. Bauer^	2016 to present	Assistant Treasurer	Vice President of Fund Accounting (2022 to present), Assistant
Year of Birth: 1977			Vice President of Fund Accounting (2020 to 2022), and AVP,
			Assistant Mutual Fund Controller (2015 to 2020) of Ultimus Fund
			Solutions, LLC
Angela A. Simmons^	January 2022 to	Assistant Treasurer	Vice President of Financial Administration (2022 to present) and
Year of Birth: 1975	present		Assistant Vice President, Financial Administration (2015 to 2022)
			of Ultimus Fund Solutions, LLC
Karen Jacoppo-Wood^	April 2023 to	Secretary	Senior Vice President and Associate General Counsel of Ultimus
Year of Birth: 1966	present		Fund Solutions, LLC (2022 to present); Managing Director and
			Managing Counsel (2019-2022) and Vice President and Managing
N. I. G. A. I.	2016	A • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	Counsel (2014-2022) of State Street Bank and Trust Company
Natalie S. Anderson^	2016 to present	Assistant Secretary	Legal Administration Manager (2016 to present) and Paralegal
Year of Birth:1975	A :1.2022.4	A : 4 C 4	(2015 to 2016) of Ultimus Fund Solutions, LLC
Jesse Hallee^	April 2023 to	Assistant Secretary	Senior Vice President and Associate General Counsel of Ultimus
Year of Birth: 1976	present		Fund Solutions, LLC (June 2019 to present); Vice President and
			Managing Counsel, State Street Bank and Trust Company (2013 to
Gweneth K. Gosselink^	2020 to present	Chief Compliance	2019) Assistant Vice President, Compliance Officer at Ultimus Fund
Year of Birth: 1955	2020 to present	Officer	Solutions, LLC (2019 to present); CCO Consultant at GKG
Tear of Billi. 1933		Officei	Consulting, LLC (2019 to 2021); Chief Operating Officer & CCO
			at Miles Capital, Inc. (2013 to 2019)
Martin Dean^	2020 to present	Assistant Chief	President of Northern Lights Compliance Services, LLC (February
Year of Birth: 1963		Compliance Officer	2023 to present); Senior Vice President, Head of Fund Compliance
1,32,00			(2020 to January 2023) and Vice President & Director of Fund
	2019 to 2020	Interim Chief	Compliance of Ultimus Fund Solutions, LLC (2016 to 2020)
		Compliance Officer	
		*	
	2016 to 2017	Assistant Chief	
		Compliance Officer	

[^] Address is 225 Pictoria Drive, Suite 450, Cincinnati, Ohio 45246

APPENDIX B

ULTIMUS MANAGERS TRUST PROXY VOTING POLICIES AND PROCEDURES

1. PURPOSE; DELEGATION

The purpose of this memorandum is to describe the policies and procedures for voting proxies received from issuers whose securities are held by each series (individually, a "Fund" and collectively, the "Funds") of Ultimus Managers Trust (the "Trust"). The Board of Trustees of the Trust (the "Board") believes that each Fund's Investment Adviser is in the best position to make individual voting decisions for such Fund. Therefore, subject to the oversight of the Board, each Fund's Investment Adviser is hereby delegated the duty to make proxy voting decisions for such Fund, and to implement and undertake such other duties as set forth in, and consistent with, these Policies and Procedures.

2. **DEFINITIONS**

<u>Proxy</u>. A proxy permits a shareholder to vote without being present at annual or special meetings. A proxy is the form whereby a person who is eligible to vote on corporate matters transmits written instructions for voting or transfers the right to vote to another person in place of the eligible voter. Proxies are generally solicited by management, but may be solicited by dissident shareholders opposed to management's policies or strategies.

<u>Proxy Manager.</u> Proxy manager, as used herein, refers to the individual, individuals or committee of individuals appointed by the investment advisers to each Fund (each, an "Investment Adviser") as being responsible for supervising and implementing these Policies and Procedures.

3. POLICY FOR VOTING PROXIES RELATED TO EXCHANGE TRADED FUNDS AND OTHER INVESTMENT COMPANIES.

Pursuant to Section 12(d)(1)(E)(iii) of the Investment Company Act of 1940, all proxies from Exchange Traded Funds ("ETFs") or other Investment Companies voted by a Fund, registered in the name of the Fund, will have the following voting instructions typed on the proxy form: "Vote these shares in the same proportion as the vote of all other holders of such shares. The beneficial owner of these shares is a registered investment company."

4. POLICY FOR VOTING PROXIES RELATED TO OTHER PORTFOLIO SECURITIES

<u>Fiduciary Considerations</u>. Proxies with respect to securities other than ETFs or other investment companies are voted solely in the interests of the shareholders of the Trust. Any conflict of interest must be resolved in the way that will most benefit the shareholders.

Management Recommendations. Since the quality and depth of management is a primary factor considered when investing in a company, the recommendation of management on any issue should be given substantial weight. The vote with respect to most issues presented in proxy statements should be cast in accordance with the position of the company's management, unless it is determined that supporting management's position would adversely affect the investment merits of owning the stock. However, each issue should be considered on its own merits, and the position of the company's management should not be supported in any situation where it is found not to be in the best interests of the Trust's shareholders.

5. CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

The Trust recognizes that under certain circumstances an Investment Adviser may have a conflict of interest in voting proxies on behalf of a Fund. Such circumstances may include, but are not limited to, situations where an Investment Adviser or one or more of its affiliates, including officers, directors or employees, has or is seeking a client relationship with the issuer of the security that is the subject of the proxy vote. The Investment Adviser shall periodically inform its employees that they are under an obligation to be aware of the potential for conflicts of interest on the part of the Investment Adviser with respect to voting proxies on behalf of a Fund, both as a result of the employee's personal relationships and due to circumstances that may arise during the conduct of the Investment Adviser's business, and to bring any conflict of interest of which they become aware to the attention of the proxy manager. With respect to securities other than ETFs or other investment companies, the Investment Adviser shall not vote proxies relating to such issuers on behalf of a Fund until it has determined that the conflict of interest is not material or a method of resolving such conflict of interest has been determined in the manner described below. A conflict of interest will be considered material to the extent that it is determined that such conflict has the potential to influence the Investment Adviser's decision-making in voting a proxy. Materiality determinations will be based upon an assessment of the particular facts and circumstances. If the proxy manager determines that a conflict of interest is not material, the Investment Adviser may vote proxies notwithstanding the existence of a conflict. If the conflict of interest is determined to be material, either (i) the conflict shall be disclosed to the Trust's Committee of Independent Trustees (the "Committee") and the Investment Adviser shall follow the instructions of the Committee or (ii) the Investment Adviser shall vote the issue in question based upon the recommendation of an independent third party under a contractual arrangement approved by the Committee. The proxy manager shall keep a record of all materiality decisions and report them to the Committee on an annual basis.

6. ROUTINE PROPOSALS

Proxies for routine proposals (such as election of directors, selection of independent public accountants, stock splits and increases in capital stock) with respect to securities other than ETFs or other investment companies should generally be voted in favor of management.

7. PROXY MANAGER APPROVAL

Votes on non-routine matters and votes against a management's recommendations with respect to securities other than ETFs or other investment companies are subject to approval by the proxy manager.

8. PROXY VOTING PROCEDURES

Proxy voting will be conducted in compliance with the policies and practices described herein and is subject to the proxy manager's supervision. A reasonable effort should be made to obtain proxy material and to vote in a timely fashion. Each Investment Adviser shall maintain records regarding the voting of proxies under these Policies and Procedures.

9. FORM N-PX

A record of each proxy vote will be entered on Form N-PX. A copy of each Form N-PX will be signed by the President of the Trust. The Form is to be filed by August 31 each year. Each reporting period covered by the Form N-PX runs from July 1 to June 30. The Trust will disclose in its annual and semi-annual reports to shareholders and in its registration statement (in the SAI) filed with the SEC on or after August 31 that each Fund's proxy voting record for the most recent twelve-month period ended June 30 is available without charge upon request and is also available on the SEC's Website at www.sec.gov.

10. INVESTMENT ADVISERS' VOTING PROCEDURES

The Trust acknowledges that the Investment Advisers to the various Funds have adopted voting policies and procedures for their clients that have been delivered to the Trust. To the extent that an Investment Adviser's policies and procedures are consistent with these Policies and Procedures, the Investment Adviser may implement them with respect to voting proxies on behalf of each Fund managed by such Investment Adviser. However, the provisions of paragraph 5 of these Policies and Procedures relating to conflicts of interest shall supersede any comparable provisions of any Investment Adviser's policies and procedures.

<u>Securities Lending:</u> If a Fund engages in securities lending, the proxy voting procedures of the Adviser of such Fund will include information on the recall of lent securities for voting purposes. More information can be found in the Securities Lending Procedures of the Trust.

APPENDIX C

Nia Impact Capital Proxy Voting Policy

Our Approach to Proxy Voting

We view proxy voting as both an investor right as well as a responsibility.

At Nia we invest in companies that meet our strict high impact, solutions-focused social and environmental standards with the understanding they will outperform over time. We seek companies that exhibit strong fundamentals and growth characteristics, offer unique products and/or services with high potential for long-term growth, and operate in a manner that makes clear the company's commitment to people, the planet and corporate social responsibility. That said, there is no perfect company and all companies have room for improvement. Each of the companies in our portfolios can benefit from shareholder input and expertise, particularly when it comes to diversity equity and inclusion efforts. Nia considers the proxy ballot to be an opportunity to express to corporate leadership the importance of thoughtful long-term sustainable business strategies. We view the voting of our proxies as an important tool in communicating to companies our priorities and in encouraging the adoption of policies and practices that will benefit the company, employees and shareholders.

Our proxy voting guidelines seek to mirror the goals of Nia's investment portfolio construction, by focusing on how companies can strengthen the positive difference they are making. As we consider Board support, corporate structure, routine matters and shareholder submitted resolutions, we look for all opportunities to share and express Nia's belief that strong corporate citizens will outperform over the long term.

In this document we lay out Nia's approach to proxy voting and provide an explanation of our process for analysis as we make vote determinations. Each vote is decided on a case-by-case basis, incorporating a wide range of considerations. As such, not all votes will always align with the guidelines described below depending on individual circumstances. We update these guidelines as, and when, necessary to adopt them to the evolving set of issues and governance best practices addressed by corporate boards. Broadly speaking, resolutions will be supported that strengthen positive long-term performance expectations of the company, increase our understanding of a company, or support broader sustainability goals without causing harm. Resolutions will not earn support if the request is at odds with the long-term health of the company or the broader social, environmental, or economic priorities of the Nia portfolio. We believe all changes in corporate structure, financing, or operations must include board accountability and be considerate of key social and environmental issues. We hold high expectations of board oversight, particularly in accountability for efforts to achieve the UN Sustainable Development Goals. We emphasize the importance of corporate transparency and disclosure and the reporting that companies will provide.

Proactive Engagement as Shareholders

Nia seeks to utilize its influence as an investor to encourage its holdings to better align with our investment thesis. Our companies have been selected for inclusion in Nia portfolios given their alignment with Nia's six key solutions themes. A company may, however, be in alignment with providing a solution in one theme, and still be able to strengthen its actions on other material social and environmental issues. For example, a company may have provided significant initial outperformance given its technological breakthroughs in renewable energy. Yet if this company has significant human capital management challenges and is not treating employees optimally, this issue will threaten its long-term ability to reach

its promise, its goals and its potential. Nia understands that many of its companies can be strengthened and improved, and seeks to encourage positive change through its shareholder engagement program. Nia actively communicates with our companies, working constructively with holdings to encourage their adoption of leading practices. We approach all of our companies as allies, developing carefully researched Environmental, Social and Governance recommendations, pairing these with educational materials tailored to each company. Outreach may include emails, letters, phone calls, zoom meetings, media placement, and when dialog is not moving constructively, shareholder resolutions. We view proxy voting as an important component of raising our voice, and of improving the performance of our portfolio.

Proxy Voting: Guiding Themes

Nia seeks to encourage forward movement and improvements of its companies in each vote that it casts. Nia seeks opportunities to proactively identify where corporate governance systems might be better aligned to reach social and financial outperformance goals.

Whatever the vote put before us, we seek to support the adoption of the best sustainability strategies for our companies. While we consider peer behaviors and "best practices," our focus is primarily on what the best policy or practice should be at each individual company. In all of our votes, we seek to support our companies via increased transparency, accountability systems, and forward movement on the UN Sustainable Development Goals, particularly those addressing social justice and environmental priorities.

Accountability

Clear and effective accountability systems are essential for investors to have confidence that a company is well managed. Nia encourages companies to put in place accountability systems that include:

- stakeholder engagement forums
- public goal setting
- systems to monitor and improve policies and practices
- third party verification of material data
- explicit lines of responsibility for social and environmental issue management

Our confidence in companies increases as they demonstrate that they understand their key challenges and take responsibility for addressing them.

Transparency

Transparency is a key component of accountability. If we are to trust a company with our clients' assets, the company should be willing to share meaningful data about its programs, policies and performance in a clear and timely way. Transparency is also necessary for us to be able to assess the effectiveness of a company's current programs and to gauge the risk profile of our investment. We also rely on meaningful company disclosures in selecting between companies, as we wish to invest in those companies that lead with vision and defined strategy on sustainability topics.

We expect a company's disclosures to at a minimum meet current industry best practices, if not exceed them. Nia companies should do more than comply with reporting standards. They should lead in their disclosure and transparency practices.

Given the ease with which reporting may be placed on a company's website, lack of disclosure increasingly raises concerns that a company is either not managing an issue well or is unwilling to make public the data associated with its programs. Across all topic areas, in general, Nia can be expected to

vote for those resolutions requesting increased data disclosure from a company. Support will be withheld, however, if the resolution requests data that would be of little additive value to the company or to other stakeholders or if the cost of collecting the data clearly outweighs the benefit this data would bring to the company or its stakeholders. All companies are encouraged to have 3rd party audits of their public reporting; inclusive of the content shared in their sustainability reports and on their web pages.

UN Sustainable Development Goals

The United Nations Sustainable Development Goals are focused on the global challenges that need to be addressed in order to build a sustainable future. Nia seeks to invest in companies that are successful in service to the Goals. As we vote our proxies, we seek out opportunities to encourage corporate practices which improve their contributions to the achievement of these 17 Goals; No poverty, Zero hunger, Good health and well-being, Quality education, Gender equality, Clean water and sanitation, Affordable and clean energy, Decent work and economic growth, Industry, innovation and infrastructure, Reduced inequalities, Sustainable cities and communities, Responsible consumption and production, Climate action, Life below water, Life on land, Peace, justice and strong institutions, and Partnerships for the goals.

Corporate attention to these Goals aligns with our expectation that those companies that lead on environmental and social issues are best positioned to outperform over time. These companies are also the ones building the world we would like to see; they are the companies we wish to invest in and enable access to resources that enable growth. All proxy votes undertaken, regardless of the vote's explicit focus, look to understand potential implications – intended and unintended – on these Goals.

Within the Goals, we focus our attention for opportunities to encourage positive change across the following key issues:

Addressing Societal Inequity

Nia believes that as an investor it can --and must-- play a role in addressing social inequity and reducing bias and discrimination. This mandate is supported by economic incentives. It is estimated that, since 1990, the US economy has lost over \$50 Trillion to racial and ethnic inequality. A key driver of revenue and financial performance is positive and healthy company culture. A workplace that tolerates harassment invites legal, brand, financial, and human capital risk.

Nia's focus on fair and equal employment opportunity is an essential component of Nia's investment thesis and aligns with its goals of supporting equality and racial justice. Nia seeks to ensure that every company within its portfolio includes People of Color and women in leadership, both at the Board and executive level. Nia also expects its companies to have systems in place to ensure fair recruitment, hiring, retention, pay, and promotion practices at all levels, regardless of size.

Environmental Stewardship

Companies absolutely must be cognizant of their impact on the ecosystem. They must also understand and plan for changing environmental conditions which may undermine (or enhance) their business strategies, impacting demand for their products, resource availability and supply chain efficiency. While our investment strategy begins with identifying solutions providers to our planet's greatest risks, we also seek to assess our companies' contributions to, and ability to improve or adapt to conditions related to, water scarcity, oceans acidification and plasticization, ecosystem disruption and deforestation, and toxic releases. Nia is particularly attentive to the underlying issues associated with climate change and the strategies our companies are taking to provide solutions for mitigation and adaptation, in addition to

measures they must take to reduce their own direct and indirect emissions as well as to adapt to climate disruptions.

Board specific considerations include, yet are not limited to, whether the board provides sufficient oversight of climate strategy, if the board has sufficient climate expertise, if the board has put in place sufficient incentives for management, if the board acknowledges climate change as a material risk (and /or opportunity) to the company and if the board is responsive to shareholder engagement.

Governance Expectations

A company's corporate governance structure is of utmost importance in ensuring it effectively executes its corporate vision and strategy. Nia looks to support governance structures that encourage accountability and transparency, ensure necessary expertise, increase the ability of stakeholders to offer their feedback, and assign appropriate incentives and rewards to executives and managers.

Board member support

While voting on resolutions is important, one of the most impactful items we are able to do as investors is to weigh in on who our Board representatives are. Nia expects Board members to provide oversight and strategic guidance to their companies. We expect them to be leaders, advocates, and communicators. We want them to be exceptional in their participation and responsibilities, not simply placeholders. In order for a Board member to receive a support vote, we expect that they will:

- Have sufficient qualification and expertise across the Board in order to well manage those social and environmental issues most pressing to the company.
- Support shareholder requests for proactive management of key sustainability challenges, such as: climate change, development of racial equity or civil rights audits, and increased disclosure of workplace equity data.

We also expect that the Board itself will have a level of diversity that reflects the population which utilizes the products and services of the company. For those companies lacking in sufficient diverse representation, support from the Nominating Chair will be first be withheld. If improvements are not made, support will be withheld from the Nominating Committee. If improvements are still not made, support will then be withheld from the full Board.

Nia will vote against the entire board of directors of a company that does not have at least two women and one self-identified non-White board members. NIa will also vote against directors on a board's nominating committee if the company does not have clear policies which guide gender and race diversity in the consideration of new board members.

Application of Guidelines

The following provide examples of how Nia would vote on specific ballot measures.

Part 1: Management Proposals

Board of Directors

Given our expectations of the Board, we focus on four key elements of corporate governance:

• Board composition and role of directors In general, Nia will support actions which increase Board independence and diversity, encourage equitable Board member nominations, allow for pertinent expertise, set appropriate Board and executive compensation and assessment criteria, removes share classification, annualizes Director elections, holds board size to a reasonable range and increases the effectiveness of Board Committee performance. Nia will also withhold support from directors that were in leadership roles at other companies where significant concerns surrounding financial, environmental, social or governance existed during the time of their tenure.

- Oversight In general, Nia will support actions which separate the Chair and the CEO roles, sets
 Board oversight as independent from management, encourage attention to social and
 environmental issues, reduce broader cultural inequality, provide greater clarity on CEO and
 management succession, increase Board oversight of risk, quality of external audits, and
 delineates responsibility.
- <u>Corporate structure</u> In general, Nia will support corporate structures which encourage corporate
 citizenship, benefit investors, increase accountability to investors, and protect or improve the
 quality of work for employees.
- Responsiveness to shareholders In general, Nia will support actions which increase shareholder voice, without undermining the ability of the Board of Directors to implement long-term strategic goals.

Elect Directors

- Withhold votes from all nominees if the board lacks an audit, compensation, or nominating committee.
- When Nia staff is able to obtain diversity data, vote **for** non-white male board members.
- Withhold votes from all male nominees if the board does not include at least half female directors; vote for female nominee(s), unless the female nominee(s) do not pass other Nia director qualifications.
- Withhold votes from all nominees if the board does not include members of underrepresented groups; vote for nominee(s) from underrepresented groups, unless these nominees do not pass other Nia director qualifications.
- When gender, ethnic, or other identity-based diversity data is provided in a proxy statement, generally vote **for** any directors who bring diversity to the board, including age diversity, barring other governance concerns.
- Withhold votes from all nominees if the board did not act to implement a policy requested by a shareholder proposal that received majority voting support in the prior two years.
- Withhold votes from all nominees if the board adopted or renewed a poison pill, without shareholder approval during the current or prior year.
- Withhold votes from any non-independent or employee nominee who serves on the audit, compensation, or nominating committee (US companies only, case-by-case basis for foreign domiciled companies).
- Withhold votes from any non-independent nominee if 50% or more of the directors are not independent.
- Withhold votes from any nominee who serves on the compensation committee if named
 executive compensation is deemed to be excessive relative to revenues/net sales, earnings or other
 factors.
- Generally, **Withhold** votes from **any** nominee who serves on the audit committee **if** the fees paid by the company for non-audit services in the prior fiscal year exceed 25% of the aggregate fees paid to the company's outside auditor.
- Generally, **Withhold** votes from **any** nominee who attended less than 75% of the board and committee meetings that they were scheduled to attend during the previous fiscal year.

Approve Board Size

- Vote against if the proposal reduces the board size and the company has cumulative voting.
- Generally, vote against if the proposed maximum board size is greater than 13 directors.
- Generally, vote **against if** the proposed minimum board size is less than 5 directors.
- Generally, vote **against** a management proposal to give the board the authority to set the size of the board as needed without shareholder approval.

Removal of Directors

- Vote against if the proposal limits the removal of directors to cases where there is legal cause.
- Vote against if the proposal would allow for the removal of directors without cause.
- Generally, vote against a management proposal to allow the directors to fill vacancies on the board without shareholder approval.

Approve Classified Board

• Generally, vote **against** a management proposal to adopt a classified board. However, in cases where a hostile takeover attempt is underway, this may be an important protection.

Repeal Classified Board

• Generally, vote **for** a management proposal to repeal classified board.

Adopt Director Liability Provision

• Generally, vote **against** a management proposal to limit the liability of directors.

Capital Structures

- Increase Authorized Common Stock
- Vote **against** if the increase is intended for a stock split
- Generally, vote **against if** the increase is an anti-takeover defense, unless Nia agrees with management, on a case-by-case basis

Approve Common Stock Issuance

- Generally, vote **against if** the dilution represents more than 20% of current outstanding voting power before the stock issuance.
- Generally, vote **against if** the stock would be issued at a discount to the fair market value.
- Generally, vote **against if** the issued common stock has superior voting rights.

Approve Issuance or Exercise of Stock Warrants

• Vote **against if** the warrants, when exercised, would exceed 20% of the outstanding voting power.

Authorize Preferred Stock

• Generally, vote **against if** the board has unlimited rights to set the terms and conditions of the shares.

Increase Authorized Preferred Stock

• Generally, vote **against if** the board has unlimited rights to set the terms and conditions of the shares.

Approve Issuance or Conversion of Preferred Stock

• Generally, vote **against if** the shares have voting rights superior to those of other shareholders.

Authorize Dual Class Stock

• Generally, vote **against if** the shares have inferior or superior voting rights.

Increase Authorized Dual Class Stock

• Generally, vote **against if** it will allow the company to issue additional shares with superior voting rights

Approve Stock Split

• Generally, vote **against** a management proposal to approve a stock split

Approve Reverse Stock Split

• Vote **against if** the company does not intend to proportionally reduce the number of authorized shares.

Approve Stock Repurchase Program

• Generally, vote **against**, unless the company intends to utilize the repurchased shares to fulfill its obligations to employees pursuant to approved incentive plans.

Changes to Corporate Structure

Approve Merger/Acquisition

- Given the multitude of factors that influence a merger/acquisition and the material financial impact that M&A activity may have on a client's portfolio, Nia votes mergers/acquisitions on a case-by-case basis. As with any vote on a client's behalf, our first and foremost consideration is the vote's financial materiality for our clients. Factors considered by the Investment Committee include, yet are not limited to, the following:
 - o Offer price versus Investment Committee's valuation versus market price
 - o Restrictions on or termination of share classes as a result of merger
 - o Whether the clients' shares will become subordinate as a result of the merger
 - Whether entity resulting from merger/acquisition will qualify as a Next Economy company
 - o Societal and justice considerations of the merger/acquisition
- Generally, vote **against if** the company's board did not obtain a fairness opinion from a professional third party.

Approve Reincorporation

• Generally, vote **against** if the proposal would reduce shareholder rights.

Approve Leveraged Buyout

• Vote **against if** the company's board did not obtain a fairness opinion from a professional third party.

Eliminate Cumulative Voting

• Generally, vote **against** a management proposal to eliminate cumulative voting.

Adopt Cumulative Voting

• Generally, vote **for** a management proposal to adopt cumulative voting.

Amend Bylaws to Implement Majority Voting

• Generally, vote **for** a management proposal to implement majority voting.

Takeover Defense Activity

Adopt Poison Pill

- Generally, vote **against if** the company has a classified board
- Vote **against if** the poison pill does not have a "sunset" provision.
- Vote **against if** the poison pill does not have a TIDE provision. (Three-Year Independent Director Evaluation.)

• Vote **against if** the poison pill trigger is less than **20**%.

Eliminate Special Meeting

• Generally, vote **against** a management proposal to eliminate shareholders' right to call a special meeting.

Limit Special Meeting

• Generally, vote **against** a management proposal to limit shareholders' right to call a special meeting.

Restore Special Meeting

• Generally, vote **for** a management proposal to restore shareholders' right to call a special meeting.

Eliminate Written Consent

• Generally, vote **against** a management proposal to eliminate shareholders' right to act by written consent.

Limit Written Consent

• Generally, vote **against** a management proposal to limit shareholders' right to act by written consent.

Restore Written Consent

• Generally, vote **for** a management proposal to restore shareholders' right to act by written consent.

Adopt Supermajority Requirement

• Generally, vote **against** a management proposal to establish a supermajority vote provision to approve merger or other business combination.

Amend Supermajority Requirement

- Vote **against if** the amendment would increase the vote required to approve the transaction.
- Vote **against if** the amendment increases the vote requirement above **50**% of the outstanding shares.

Eliminate Supermajority Requirement

• Generally, vote **for** a management proposal to eliminate a supermajority vote provision to approve merger or other business combination.

Adopt Supermajority Lock-In

• Generally, vote **against** a management proposal to adopt supermajority vote requirements (lockins) to change certain bylaw or charter provisions.

Amend Supermajority Lock-In

- Vote **against if** the changes would increase the vote requirement above **50**% of the outstanding shares.
- Vote **against if** the changes would result in a complete Lock-In on all of the charter and bylaw provisions.

Eliminate Supermajority Lock-In

• Generally, vote **for** a management proposal to eliminate supermajority vote requirements (lockins) to change certain bylaw or charter provisions.

Adopt Fair Price Provision

• Generally, vote for a management proposal that establishes a fair price provision.

Repeal Fair Price Provision

• Generally, vote **against** a management proposal to repeal a fair price provision.

Adopt Anti-Greenmail Provision

• Generally, vote **for** a management proposal to limit the payment of greenmail.

Adopt Advance Notice Requirement

• Generally, vote **against** a management proposal to adopt advance notice requirements.

Opt Out of State Takeover Law

- Generally, vote **against** a management proposal seeking to opt out of a state takeover statutory provision.
- Opt Into State Takeover Law
- Generally, vote **for** a management proposal seeking to opt into a state takeover statutory provision.

Compensation & Incentive Plans

- Approve, on an Advisory Basis, Named Executive Officer Compensation Vote **against if** named executive compensation is deemed to be excessive relative to revenues/net sales and earnings, or proxy materials are limited in scope and analysis.
- Vote **against if** compensation plan awards are based on per-share metrics
- Vote **for if** named executive compensation is reasonable given current company incentive programs and recent achievements.
- Vote against if any non-independent director serves on the compensation committee.
- Recommend, on an Advisory Basis, the Frequency of the Stockholder Vote to Approve Executive Compensation
- Always vote **1 year** when the frequency of stockholder vote to approve executive compensation is proposed.

Adopt Employee Stock Ownership Plans

- Vote against if the plan dilution is more than 10%.
- Vote **against if** the plan allows non-qualified options to be priced at less than **80**% of the fair market value on the grant date.
- Vote **against if** there is not a cap on shares that can be purchased.
- Vote **against if** the company does not expense shares.

Adopt Long-Term (Stock) Incentive Plan

- Vote **against if** the plan dilution is more than **10**%.
- Vote **against if** the plan allows non-qualified options to be priced at less than **80**% of the fair market value on the grant date.
- Vote **against if** the plan has a share replenishment feature (evergreen plan) that is, it adds a specified number or percentage of outstanding shares for awards each year.
- Vote **against if** the plan allows for multiple awards and does not set a limit on the number of shares that can be granted as an award other than options.

- Vote **against if** the plan permits the award of time-lapsing restricted stock that fully vest in less than **3** years.
- Vote **against if** the company does not expense stock options.
- Vote against if the minimum vesting period for options granted under it is less than 3 years.

Amend Long-Term (Stock) Incentive Plan

- Vote **against if** the amendment allows options to be priced at less than **80**% fair market value on the grant date.
- Vote **against if** the amendment adds time-lapsing restricted stock awards that fully vest in less than **3** years.
- Vote **against if** the amendment allows for multiple awards and does not set a limit on the number of shares that can be granted as awards other than options.

Add Shares to Long-Term (Stock) Incentive Plan

- Vote **against if** the dilution is more than **10**%.
- Vote **against if** the plan allows non-qualified options to be priced at less than **80**% of the fair market value on the grant date.
- Vote **against if** the plan does not set a limit on the number of shares that can be granted as awards other than options.
- Vote **against if** the plan permits the award of time-lapsing restricted stock that fully vest in less than **3** years.
- Vote **against if** the company does not expense stock options.
- Vote against if the minimum vesting period for options granted under it is less than 3 years.

Extend Term of Stock Incentive Plan

- Vote **against if** the compensation committee is not fully independent.
- Vote **against if** the plan allows non-qualified options to be priced at less than **80**% of the fair market value on the grant date.
- Vote **against if** the plan allows for multiple awards and does not set a limit on the number of shares that can be granted as awards other than options.
- Vote **against if** the plan permits the award of time-lapsing restricted stock that fully vest in less than **3** years.
- Vote **against if** the proposed plan allows for the accelerated vesting of awards upon shareholder approval of a merger or similar business transaction.
- Vote **against if** the company does not expense stock options.
- Vote against if the minimum vesting period for options granted under it is less than 3 years.

Amend Director Stock Incentive Plan

- Vote **against if** the amendment would permit the granting of non-formula, discretionary awards.
- Vote against if the amendment would provide an incentive to receive shares instead of cash.
- Vote **against if** the amendment adds time-lapsing restricted stock awards that fully vest in less than **3** years.

Amend Director Stock Award Plan

- Vote against if the amendment adds time-lapsing restricted stock that vest in less than 3 years.
- Vote against if the amendment would permit the granting of non-formula, discretionary awards.
- Vote **against if** the proposed amendment would include an incentive to receive shares instead of cash.

Adopt Employee Stock Purchase Plan

- Vote **against if** the proposed plan allows employees to purchase stock at less than **80**% of the stock's fair market value.
- Vote **against if** the equity dilution is more than 10%.

Amend Employee Stock Purchase Plan

• Vote **against if** the proposal allows employees to purchase stock at prices of less than **80**% of the stock's fair market value.

Add Shares to Employee Stock Purchase Plan

• Vote **against if** the proposal allows employees to purchase stock at prices of less than **80**% of the stock's fair market value.

Approve Savings Plan

• Always vote **for** a management proposal to adopt a savings plan.

Approve Option/Stock Awards

- Vote **against if** the option/stock award is priced less than **80**% of the fair market value on the grant date.
- Vote **against if** the award is time-lapsing stock that fully vest in less than **3** years.
- Vote **against if** the option is not premium-priced or indexed, or does not vest based on future performance.

Other Management Proposals

Ratify Selection of Auditors

• Generally, vote **against if** the non-audit, non-tax services (i.e., "other fees") exceed **25**% of total fees.

Approve Employment Agreements

• Generally, vote for a management proposal to approve an employment agreement or contract.

Approve Non-Technical Charter Amendments

• Generally, vote **against** any amendment that would have the effect of reducing shareholders' rights.

Approve Non-Technical Bylaw Amendments

• Generally, vote **against if** an amendment that would have the effect of reducing shareholders' rights.

Part 2: Shareholder Proposals

Board of Directors and Governance

Adopt Confidential Voting

• Generally, vote **for** a shareholder proposal asking the board to adopt confidential voting and independent tabulation of the proxy ballots.

Counting Shareholder Votes

• Generally, vote **for** a shareholder proposal asking the company to refrain from counting abstentions and broker non-votes in vote tabulations.

No Discretionary Voting

• Generally, vote **for** a shareholder proposal to eliminate the company's discretion to vote unmarked proxy ballots.

Equal Access to the Proxy

 Generally, vote for a shareholder proposal to provide equal access to the proxy materials for shareholders.

Improve Meeting Reports

• Generally, vote **for** a shareholder proposal to improve annual meeting reports.

Board Inclusiveness

• Generally, vote **for** a shareholder proposal asking the board to include more women and minorities as directors.

Increase Board Independence

• Generally, vote **for** a shareholder proposal seeking to increase board independence.

Minimum Stock Ownership by Directors

• Generally, vote **for** a shareholder proposal to require minimum stock ownership by directors.

Allow Union/Employee Representatives on the Board

• Generally, vote **for** a shareholder proposal that seeks to provide for union or employee representatives on the board of directors.

Directors' Role in Corporate Strategy

• Generally, vote **for** a shareholder proposal seeking to increase disclosure regarding the board's role in the development and monitoring of the company's long-term strategic plan.

Increase Nominating Committee Independence

• Generally, vote **for** a shareholder proposal to increase the independence of the nominating committee.

Increase Compensation Committee Independence

• Generally, vote **for** a shareholder proposal to increase the independence of the compensation committee.

Increase Audit Committee Independence

• Generally, vote **for** a shareholder proposal to increase the independence of the audit committee.

Increase Key Committee Independence

• Generally, vote **for** a shareholder proposal to increase the independence of key committees.

Create Nominating Committee

• Vote **for** a shareholder proposal to create a nominating committee of the board.

Create Shareholder Committee

• Generally, vote **for** a shareholder proposal urging the creation of a shareholder committee.

Independent Board Chairman

• Generally, vote with management recommendations, **except** in cases where there is not an independent lead director and the Chairman is an insider.

Lead Director

• Vote **for** a shareholder proposal asking that a lead director be chosen from among the ranks of non-employee directors, if there is no independent lead director.

Adopt Cumulative Voting

• Generally, vote **for** a shareholder proposal calling for the adoption of cumulative voting.

Require Nominee Statement in Proxy

• Generally, vote **for** a shareholder proposal to require directors to place a statement of candidacy in the proxy statement.

Double Board Nominees

• Shareholder proposals to nominate two director candidates for each open board seat require specific analysis on a case-by-case basis

Director Liability

• Vote **for** a shareholder proposal to make directors liable for acts or omissions that constitute a breach of fiduciary care resulting from a director's gross negligence and/or reckless or willful neglect.

Repeal Classified Board

• Generally, vote **for** a shareholder proposal to repeal a classified board, however careful analysis is critical in hostile takeover situations.

Lower Threshold for Special Meeting

• Generally, vote **against** a shareholder proposal that lowers the ownership threshold required to call a special meeting.

Proxy Access Amendments

• Generally, vote **against** a shareholder proposal to increase shareholder proxy access, which typically increases the number of shareholder-nominated candidates for the Board.

Auditors

Shareholder Approval of Auditors

• Always vote **for** a shareholder proposal calling for stockholder ratification of auditors.

Auditors Must Attend Annual Meeting

• Generally, vote for a shareholder proposal calling for the auditors to attend the annual meeting.

Limit Consulting by Auditors

• Generally, vote **for** a shareholder proposal calling for limiting consulting by auditors.

Takeover Defense Activity

Redeem or Vote on Poison Pill

A "Poison pill" is the term for a defense strategy used by the directors of a public company to prevent activist investors, competitors, or other would-be acquirers from taking control of the company by buying up large amounts of its stock.

• Generally, vote **for** a shareholder proposal asking the board to redeem or to allow shareholders to vote on a poison pill shareholder rights plan.

Eliminate Supermajority Provision

• Generally, vote **for** a shareholder proposal that seeks to eliminate supermajority provisions.

Reduce Supermajority Provision

• Generally, vote **for** a shareholder proposal that seeks to reduce supermajority provisions.

Restore Right to Call a Special Meeting

• Generally, vote **for** a shareholder proposal to restore shareholders' right to call a special meeting.

Restore Right to Act by Written Consent

• Generally, vote **for** a shareholder proposal to restore shareholders' right to act by written consent.

Prohibit Targeted Share Placement

• Generally, vote **for** a shareholder proposal to limit the board's discretion to issue targeted share placements or to require shareholder approval before such block placements can be made.

Opt Out of State Takeover Statute

• Generally, vote **for** a shareholder proposal seeking to force the company to opt out of a state takeover statutory provision.

Reincorporation

• Generally, vote **against if** the new state has stronger anti-takeover provisions.

Adopt Anti-Greenmail Provision

• Generally, vote **for** a shareholder proposal to limit greenmail payments.

Compensation & Incentive Plans

Restrict Executive Compensation

• Generally, vote **against if** the proposal limits executive pay without linking compensation to financial performance.

Disclose Executive Compensation

• Generally, vote **for** a shareholder proposal to enhance the disclosure of executive compensation.

Restrict Director Compensation

• Generally, vote **for** a shareholder proposal to restrict director compensation.

Pay Directors in Stock

• Generally, vote **against if** the resolution would require directors to receive their entire compensation in the form of company stock.

Approve Executive Compensation

• Vote **for** a shareholder proposal calling for shareholder votes on executive pay.

Restrict Director Pensions

• Generally, vote **for** a shareholder proposal calling for the termination of director retirement plans.

Review/Report on/Link Executive Pay to Social Performance

• Generally, vote **for** a shareholder proposal that asks management to review, report on and/or link executive compensation to non-financial criteria, particularly social criteria.

No Repricing of Underwater Options

• Generally, vote **for** a shareholder proposal seeking shareholder approval to reprice or replace underwater stock options.

Golden Parachutes

- Generally, vote **for** a shareholder proposal calling for a ban on excessive golden parachutes.
- Generally, vote **for** a shareholder proposal calling for a shareholder vote on future golden parachutes.

Award Performance-Based Stock Options

• Generally, vote **for** a shareholder proposal seeking to award performance based stock options.

Expense Stock Options

• Vote **for** a shareholder proposal establishing a policy of expensing the costs of all future stock options issued by the company in the company's annual income statement.

Create Compensation Committee

• Vote **for** a shareholder proposal to create a compensation committee.

Hire Independent Compensation Consultant

• Generally, vote **for** a shareholder proposal to require that the compensation committee hire its own independent compensation consultants-separate from the compensation consultants working with corporate management-to assist with executive compensation issues.

Corporate Influence

Review Charitable Giving Policy

• Vote **against if** the company has a well-managed program or the proposal will be unduly burdensome.

Review Political Spending

• Generally, vote **for** a shareholder proposal that asks the company to increase disclosure of political spending and activities.

Report on Political Involvement and Values Congruency

• Generally, vote **for** a shareholder proposal that asks the company to report on corporate values congruency with political spending and activities.

Disclose Prior Government Service

• Generally, vote **for** a shareholder proposal requesting disclosure of company executives' prior government service.

Environmental Issues

Review Energy Efficiency & Renewables

• Generally, vote **for** a shareholder proposal that asks the company to review its reliance on nuclear and fossil fuels, its development or use of solar and wind power, or its energy efficiency.

Endorse Ceres Principles and UN Sustainable Development Goals

• Generally, vote **for** a shareholder proposal that asks management to endorse the Ceres principles or UN Sustainable Development Goals.

Control Generation of Pollutants

• Generally, vote **for** a shareholder proposal that asks the company to control generation of pollutant(s).

Report on Environmental Impact or Plans

• Generally, vote **for** a shareholder proposal that asks the company to report on its environmental impact or plans.

Report or Take Action on Climate Change

- Generally, vote **for** a shareholder proposal that asks management to report or take action on climate change.
- Generally, vote **for** a shareholder resolution that asks companies to review their contribution to climate change, their preparation for adaptation, or their ability to adapt their own service offering.
- Generally, vote **for** a shareholder resolution that asks for data and strategy related to a company's primary, secondary, and tertiary climate impacts.
- Generally, vote **for** a shareholder resolution that asks for the alignment of corporate policies and practices with the need for corporate climate leadership.
- Generally, vote **for** a shareholder resolution that seeks net zero goals.

Review Genetic Engineering

• Generally, vote **for** a shareholder proposal that asks management to report on or label bioengineered products.

Preserve/Report on Natural Habitat

• Vote **for** a shareholder proposal that asks the company to preserve natural habitat.

Report on Sustainability

• Generally, vote **for** a shareholder proposal requesting reports on sustainability related issues or topics.

Human Rights, Labor, & Social Issues

Develop/Report on Human Rights Policy

• Generally, vote **for** a shareholder proposal that asks the company to develop or report on human rights policies.

Review Operations' Impact on Local Groups

• Generally, vote **for** a shareholder proposal that asks the company to review its operations' impact on local groups.

No Use of Forced Labor (China and other countries)

• Vote **for** a shareholder proposal that asks management to certify that company operations are free of forced labor.

Adopt Code of Conduct (China)

• Generally, vote **for** a shareholder proposal that asks management to implement and/or increase activity on each of the principles of the U.S. Business Principles for Human Rights of Workers in China.

Improve Recruitment or Nomination Process

• Generally, vote **for a shareholder** proposal that asks the company or Board to take steps to increase the diversity of candidates of nominating pools.

Report on workforce diversity and inclusion

• Generally, vote **for** a shareholder proposal that asks management to report on the company's diversity and inclusion policies and programs, including releasing its EEO-1 forms or other statistical data.

Drop Employee Protections from Equal Employment Policy

• Vote **against** a shareholder proposal that asks management to drop sexual orientation, gender identity or any other employee group that has historically faced societal harassment or discrimination from the company's equal employment opportunity policy.

Adopt Anti-Bias Policy

• Vote **for** a shareholder proposal that asks management to adopt anti-bias policies or protections for any employee group that has historically faced societal harassment or discrimination.

Review Foreign WorkForce Conditions

• Generally, vote **for** a shareholder proposal that asks management to report on or review foreign operations.

Adopt Standards for Foreign Operations

• Generally, vote **for** a shareholder proposal that asks management to adopt standards for foreign operations.

Review or Implement MacBride Principles

• Generally, vote **for** a shareholder proposal that asks management to review or implement the MacBride principles.

Urge MacBride on Contractor/Franchisee

The MacBride Principles are a corporate code of conduct for U.S. companies doing business in Northern Ireland. They consist of nine fair employment principles, and have become the Congressional standard for all US aid to, or for economic dealings with, Northern Ireland.

• Generally, vote **for** a shareholder proposal that asks the company to encourage its contractors and franchisees to implement the MacBride principles.

Review Global Labor Practices

• Generally, vote **for** a shareholder proposal that asks management to report on or review its global labor practices or those of their contractors.

Increase Board Oversight or Expertise on Human Rights Issues

• Generally, vote **for** a shareholder proposal that seeks increased Board oversight or expertise of global labor practices.

Monitor/Adopt ILO Conventions

Generally, vote for a shareholder proposal that asks management to adopt, implement or enforce
a global workplace code of conduct based on the International Labor Organization's (ILO) core
labor conventions.

Conduct Racial Equity or Civil Rights Audit

• Generally, vote **for** a shareholder proposal requesting that company conduct a civil rights or racial equity audit.

Military Involvement

Review Foreign Military Sales

• Generally, vote **for** a shareholder proposal that asks management to report on the company's foreign military sales or foreign offset activities.

Review Military Contracting Criteria

• Generally, vote **for** a shareholder proposal that asks management to develop social, economic and ethical criteria that the company could use to determine the acceptability of military contracts and to govern the execution of the contracts.

Other Shareholder Proposals

Review Developing Country Debt

• Generally, vote **for** a shareholder proposal asking the company to review its developing country debt and lending criteria and to report to shareholders on its findings.

Review Social Impact of Financial Ventures

• Generally, vote **for** a shareholder proposal that requests a company to assess the environmental, public health, human rights, labor rights or other socioeconomic impacts of its credit decisions.

Review Fair Lending Policy

• Vote **for** a shareholder proposal requesting reports and/or reviews of plans and/or policies on fair lending practices.

Review Plant Closings

• Generally, vote **for** a shareholder proposal that asks the company to establish committees to consider issues related to facilities closure and relocation of work.

Review or Promote Animal Welfare

• Generally, vote **for** a shareholder proposal that asks management to review or promote animal welfare.

Review Drug Pricing or Distribution

• Generally, vote **for** a shareholder proposal that asks the company to report or take action on pharmaceutical drug pricing or distribution.

Restore Preemptive Rights

• Generally, vote **for** a shareholder proposal to restore preemptive rights.

Study Sale or Spin-Off

• Generally, vote **for** a shareholder proposal asking the company to study sales, spin-offs or other strategic alternatives.